
DARBY 
 Community Development District 

 
AUGUST 29, 2023 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



 Darby  
  Community Development District 

  475 West Town Place 
             Suite 114  

  St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
              

  
August 22, 2023 
 
 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Darby Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Audit Committee Meeting of the Darby Community Development District will be held 
Tuesday, August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. at the offices of Corner Lot Development, 1819 
Goodwin Street, Jacksonville, Florida 32204.  Immediately following will be the regular meeting 
of the Board of Supervisors. 
 
Audit Committee Meeting 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Review and Selection of Audit RFP Criteria 
 
 III. Other Business 
 
 IV. Adjournment 
 
Regular Business Meeting 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Audience Comments (regarding agenda items listed below) 
 
 III. Organizational Matters 
  A. Oath of Office for Newly Elected Supervisors 
 
  B. Consideration of Resolution 2023-32, Canvassing and Certifying the Results of 

the Landowners Election 
 
  C. Consideration of Resolution 2023-33, Electing and Designating the Officers of 

the District 
 
 IV. Consideration of Minutes of the July 26, 2023 Organizational Meeting  
 



 V. Public Hearing Imposing and Levying Master Special Assessments, Resolution 
2023-34 

 
 VI. Acceptance of Audit Committee’s Recommendation; Approval of Audit Criteria 

and Authorization for Staff to Publish an RFP for Auditing Services 
 
 VII. Discussion of Fiscal Year 2023 & 2024 Approved Budget 
 
  VIII. Staff Reports   
  A. Attorney  
   
  B. Engineer  
  
   C. Manager  
   
 IX. Supervisors Requests  
 
 X. Audience Comments 
 
 XI. Consideration of Funding Request No. 2 
 
 XII. Next Scheduled Meeting – September 29, 2023 @ 10:00 a.m. at the Offices of 

Corner Lot Development 
 
 XIII. Adjournment  
  
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUDITOR SELECTION 

EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

 
1.  Ability of Personnel.       (20 Points) 
 
(E.g., geographic location of the firm’s headquarters or permanent office in relation to 
the project; capabilities and experience of key personnel; present ability to manage this 
project; evaluation of existing work load; proposed staffing levels, etc.) 
 
2.  Proposer’s Experience.      (20 Points) 
 
(E.g. past record and experience of the Proposer in similar projects; volume of work 
previously performed by the firm; past performance for other or current Community 
Development District(s) in other contracts; character, integrity, reputation of Proposer, 
etc.) 
 
3.  Understanding of Scope of Work.    (20 Points) 
 
Extent to which the proposal demonstrates an understanding of the District’s needs for 
the services requested. 
 
4. Ability to Furnish the Required Services.    (20 Points) 
 
Extent to which the proposal demonstrates the adequacy of Proposer’s financial 
resources and stability as a business entity necessary to complete the services required. 
 
5. Price.        (20 Points)*** 
 
Points will be awarded based upon the lowest total proposal for rendering the services 
and the reasonableness of the proposal. 
 
Total         (100 Points) 
 

 

***Alternatively, the Board may choose to evaluate firms without considering price, in 
which case the remaining categories would be assigned 25 points each. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



 

 

RESOLUTION 2023-32 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE DARBY COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CANVASSING AND CERTIFYING THE RESULTS OF THE 
LANDOWNERS ELECTION OF SUPERVISORS HELD PURSUANT TO SECTION 
190.006(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the Darby Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of 

special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within the City of Jacksonville, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 190.006(2), Florida Statutes, a landowners meeting is 
required to be held within 90 days of the District’s creation and every two years following the 
creation of the District for the purpose of electing supervisors of the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, such landowners meeting was held on August 29 2023, the minutes of which 
are attached hereto as Exhibit A, and at which the below recited persons were duly elected by 
virtue of the votes cast in his/her favor; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District, by means of this Resolution, desire to 
canvas the votes and declare and certify the results of said election. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 Section 1.  The following individuals are found, certified, and declared to have been duly 
elected as Supervisor of and for the District, having been elected by the votes cast in their favor 
as shown: 

 
  Seat 1   Votes    
  Seat 2 (4yr term) Votes    
  Seat 3   Votes    
  Seat 4 (4yr term) Votes    
  Seat 5   Votes    

 
 Section 2.  In accordance with Section 190.006(2), Florida Statutes, and by virtue of the 
number of votes cast for the Supervisor, the above-named individuals are declared to have been 
elected for the following term of office: 

 
  4 Year Term 
  4 Year Term 
  2 Year Term 



 

 

  2 Year Term 
  2 Year Term 
 

 Section 3.  This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 29th DAY OF AUGUST, 2023. 
 

 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
             
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  
 

DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 
 
 
      
            
Chairman/Vice Chairman, Board of 
Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
Exhibit A:  Meeting Minutes of August 29, 2023 Landowners Meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Meeting Minutes of August 29, 2023 Landowners Meeting 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



RESOLUTION 2023-33 
 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING A CHAIRMAN, A VICE 
CHAIRMAN, A SECRETARY, AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES 
OF THE DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Darby Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-

purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated in the 
Duval County, Florida; and  
  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District desires to appoint the below-recited persons 
to the offices specified.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT: 

 
1.       is appointed Chairman. 
 
2.      is appointed Vice Chairman. 
 
3. Daniel Laughlin   is appointed Secretary. 
 
4.       is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
5.       is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
6.       is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
7. James Oliver    is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
8. Darrin Mossing    is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
9. Marilee Giles    is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
10. Howard McGaffney   is appointed Assistant Secretary. 
 
11. Daniel Laughlin     is appointed Treasurer 
 
12. James Oliver    is appointed Assistant Treasurer 
 
13. Marilee Giles    is appointed Assistant Treasurer 
 
14. Darrin Mossing    is appointed Assistant Treasurer  
 
15. Howard McGaffney   is appointed Assistant Treasurer 
 

 16.     This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 

 



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 29th day of August, 2023. 
 
ATTEST: DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
             
Secretary     Chairman/Vice Chairman 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



MINUTES OF MEETING 
DARBY 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

 The Organizational meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Darby Community 

Development District was held Wednesday, July 26, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. at 1819 Goodwin Street, 

Jacksonville, Florida.  

 
 Present and constituting a quorum: 
 
 Andy Allen   Chairman 
 George Leone Vice Chairman 
 Rick Egger Supervisor  
 William English Supervisor 
   
 
 Also present: 
 
 
 Daniel Laughlin District Manager 
 Wes Haber District Counsel 
 Beth Leaptrott Interim Engineer 
 Jim Oliver GMS 
 Sarah Warren Bryant Miller Olive 
 Sete Zare MBS  
 Mike Blevins Corner Lot Development 
   
  

 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the July 26, 2023 Organizational 

meeting of the Darby Community Development District.  

 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Introduction 
A. Call to Order  

 Mr. Laughlin called the meeting to order. 

 

B. Public Comment Period 
 Mr. Laughlin stated that no one from the public was present.  

 

  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

2 

C. Oath of Office 
 Mr. Laughlin presented Oath of Office for the four Board members, Will English, Andy 

Allen, Rick Egger and George Leone. 

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Organizational Matters 
A. Information on Community Development Districts and Public Official 

Responsibilities and Florida Statutes Chapter 190 
 Mr. Haber explained that Board members are considered elected officials which means 

they are subject to chapter 112 which is the Code of Ethics for public officials. The Sunshine Law 

in Florida says you cannot speak with other Board members about CDD business outside the 

publicly noticed meetings (Includes texts, emails, written correspondence as well as verbal 

communication). He noted on the public record side of things, more less anything you get or 

produce as it relates to the CDD is going to be considered public record. Governmental 

Management Services (GMS) will be the custodian of records. Essentially any document that gets 

provided to you by staff, you don’t have any obligation to keep. Likewise, any email that you get 

from any members of the staff, you don’t have to worry about keeping those but an email that you 

generate that may not be with staff you should keep that. We often recommend that you set up a 

CDD email address. He stated it only matters if there is a public records request. Public records 

only matters if the CDD gets a public records request from a member of the public. It’s not just 

emails, public records are broad which includes written documents and also electronic documents.  

 Mr. Laughlin stated that as of January 2024 all CDD Board members will be required to 

take 4 hours of ethics, Sunshine Law, and public record training.  

 

B. Election of Officers 
1. Resolution 2023-01 Appointing Officers 

 Mr. Laughlin stated that the Board is required to appoint a Chairman and Vice Chairman 

and the remaining Board members will be Assistant Secretaries. From Mr. Laughlin’s office, he 

would be the Secretary, Jim Oliver will be an Assistant Secretary, Darrin Mossing Assistant 

Secretary, Marilee Giles and Howard McGaffney both Assistant Secretaries. We do this so we can 

sign documents.  

 Mr. Haber noted particularly the Chair is going to be the one interacting with staff the most 

and signs most of the documents. Mr. Haber stated that Assistant Secretaries have the authority to 

sign documents if neither the Chair nor Vice Chair are available. Board consensus was to appoint 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

3 

Mr. Allen as the Chairman, Mr. Leone as the Vice Chair, Daniel Laughlin, William English, Rick 

Eggers, James Oliver, Darrin Mossing, Marilee Giles, and Howard McGaffney as Assistant 

Secretaries. If the Board is fine with that, a motion would be needed to approve Resolution 2023-

01.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Egger, seconded by Mr. Allen, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2023-01 Appointing Officers as slated above, was 
approved.  

 

2. Resolution 2023-02 Appointing Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer 
 Mr. Laughlin noted that this resolution will appoint himself as the Treasurer and then James 

Oliver, Darrin Mossing, Marilee Giles, and Howard McGaffney as Assistant Treasurers in his 

office and this allows them to sign checks and other documents.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Egger, seconded by Mr. Allen, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2023-02 Appointing Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, 
was approved.  

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Retention of District Staff 
A. Consideration of Agreement for District Management Services 

 Mr. Laughlin reviewed the agreement for the Board.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Agreement for District Management Services, was 
approved.  

 
1. Resolution 2023-03 Appointing District Manager 

 Mr. Laughlin noted if there aren’t any comments or discussion on the agreement then we 

just ask that you approve the resolution.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-03 Appointing District Manager as GMS, 
was approved.  

 

B. Consideration of Agreement for District Counsel Services 
 Mr. Laughlin reviewed the agreement for District counsel services.  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

4 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Agreement for District Counsel Services, was approved.  

 
1. Resolution 2023-04 Appointing District Counsel 

 Mr. Haber stated he would be happy to answer any questions regarding the agreement.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Egger, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-04 Appointing District Counsel as Kutak 
Rock, was approved.  

 

C. Resolution 2023-05 Selection of Registered Agent and Office 
 Mr. Laughlin stated that Wes Haber’s company would be the registered office and Mr. 

Haber would be the agent.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-05 Selection of Registered Agent and Office, 
was approved.  

 

D. Resolution 2023-06 Appointing Interim District Engineer 
 Mr. Laughlin noted that there was a representative here and the resolution was in the agenda 

package for review.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-06 Appointing Interim District Engineer as 
Connelly and Wicker, was approved.  

 

E. Consideration of Interim District Engineering Agreement and Work Authorization 
No. 1  

 Mr. Laughlin noted this is included in the agenda package. The Board had no questions on 

the agreement or work authorization with Connelly and Wicker. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Interim District Engineering Agreement and Work 
Authorization No. 1, was approved.  

 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

5 

 
F. Request Authorization to Issue RFQ for Engineering Services  

 Mr. Laughlin reviewed the RFQ and asked for a motion to approve requesting 

authorization to issue the RFQ for engineering services.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. English, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in 
favor, the Authorization to Issue RFQ for Engineering Services, was 
approved.  

 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Designation of Meetings and Hearing Dates 
A. Consideration of Resolution 2023-07 Designation of Regular Monthly Meeting Date, 

Time and Location for Fiscal Year 2023 & Fiscal Year 2024  
 Mr. Laughlin asked for Board suggestion on meeting dates. Board consensus was to table 

setting a monthly meeting date. The Board decided to set their next meeting on August 29, 2023 

at 10:00 a.m. 

 

B. Consideration of Resolution 2023-08 Designation of Landowner’s Meeting Date, Time 
and Location 

 Mr. Laughlin noted that the Landowner’s meeting was required to be held within 90 days 

of the District’s establishment. Board consensus was to hold the meeting on August 29, 2023 at 

10:00 a.m. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. English, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-08 Designating the Landowner’s Meeting 
Date, Time, and Location for August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. at their 
current location, was approved.  

 

C. Designation of Date of Public Hearing to Adopt Rules of Procedure in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes  
1. Consideration of Resolution 2023-09 Setting a Public Hearing to Consider the 

Proposed Rules of the District  
A. Rules of Procedure 

 Mr. Haber stated that the Rules of Procedure govern how the District operates. It is around 

a 50-page document with 90% of it dealing with procurement so if the District is entering into 

contracts to purchase materials, construction, maintenance or certain dollar thresholds for 

maintenance $195,000 and for construction is about $400,000 then there is a specific process that 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

6 

must be followed as far as putting that in the newspaper, offering protest rights, and those types of 

things. The rules over more than that including how meetings are noticed. He noted you have 

between this meeting and September 18th to review it and ask any questions. We can certainly 

make revisions but the form we have provided is generally the form that our CDD clients adopt. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. English, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in 
favor, Designation of September 18th at 4:15 for Public Hearing to 
Adopt Rules of Procedure in Accordance with Section 120.54, 
Florida Statue and Resolution 2023-09 Setting September 18 at 4:15 
to Consider the Proposed Rules of the District, was approved.  

 

 Mr. Laughlin noted that the Board would need to amend the motion to change the meeting 

date.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Amending the prior Resolution 2023-09 motion changing the 
date of the public hearing to September 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m., was 
approved.  

 

D. Designation of Dates of Public Hearing on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2023 & Fiscal 
Year 2024  
1. Consideration of Resolution 2023-10 Setting the Public Hearing and Approving 

the Proposed Fiscal Year 2022/2023 & Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budgets 
 Mr. Laughlin noted stated this would be the same September meeting date. Mr. Haber 

stated that you are currently in Fiscal Year 2022/2023. Typically, you adopt a budget before the 

fiscal year starts but because the CDD was created during the fiscal year, you cannot do anything 

but adopt your budget during the year. You are actually going to be adopting two budgets, your 

budget for the existing year and your budget for the following year . 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-10 Setting the Public Hearing for September 
29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. Approving the Proposed Fiscal Year 
2022/2023 & Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budgets, was approved.  

 

  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

7 

2. Approval of the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Funding Agreement 
 Mr. Haber stated typically on a build out CDD or even when you get some residents in 

there who you are going to assess to start paying for things, you fund your budget through the levy 

of assessments. In this case, it would not make sense to levy assessment against the property 

owners because you would be levying it against yourself or your business partners. You certainly 

have the authority as a Board to levy an assessment but more often than not in the early stages of 

a District you enter into this Funding Agreement and the budget gets funded with this agreement. 

GMS will reach out to you with funding requests to pay ongoing expenses of the District.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Funding Agreement, was 
approved.  

 

3. Consideration of Funding Request No. 1  
 Mr. Laughlin noted that the first funding request total amount is $20,250 and those items 

are $6,000 to open the operating account which you will have at the bank and gives a little money 

to have in case something comes up, then the insurance for Fiscal Year 2023 which is $2,500, legal 

advertising at $10,000 and then website creation and ADA compliance at $1,750. The legal 

advertising will typically go down. At one point, you will just be doing a notice for the monthly 

meetings which are $80 or so. He noted it is a statute that the CDD has to have a website to hold 

certain public records on.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Funding Request No. 1, was approved.  

 

E. Resolution 2023-11 Setting Date of Public Hearing Expressing the District’s Intent to 
Utilize the Uniform Method of Levying, Collecting and Enforcing No Ad-Valorem 
Assessments in accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes  

 Mr. Haber stated that once people move into the community, the District will start 

collecting assessments. He noted that assessments will be collected on their ad valorem tax bill, 

and in order to take advantage of that process, you are required to hold a public hearing and that 

is what this resolution sets. We often do it now to get it out of the way. If you are 100% certain at 

some point in the future that you are going to be using the CDD to levy and collect assessments 

against homeowners or other property owners within the boundaries, it will probably make sense 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

8 

to do it. The reason I say you don’t have to do it is if there is any concern that you may not, there 

is a published notice that you pay for and you would be paying for that notice if you don’t take 

advantage of the Uniform Method of Collection which is having the county collect your 

assessments for the CDD.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-11 Setting the Date of the Public Hearing 
Expressing the District’s Intent to Utilize the Uniform Method of 
Levying, Collecting and Enforcing No Ad-Valorem Assessments in 
accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes for September 
29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m., was approved.  

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Organizational Matters  
A. Resolution 2023-12 Designating a Qualified Public Depository 

 Mr. Laughlin noted a lot of their Districts use Wells Fargo, not sure if you guys have any 

preference to any bank. This portion is a checking account where the money is kept. The Trustee 

will hold the assessment in their accounts and we will use it to transfer it to our public depository 

which is linked to the checks that are cut. We use Wells Fargo, Truist, Hancock Whitney.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-12 Designating Wells Fargo as Qualified 
Public Depository, was approved.  

 

B. Resolution 2023-13 Authorization of Bank Account Signatories 
 Mr. Laughlin noted this resolution allows myself, Jim Oliver, Darrin Mossing, Marilee 

Giles, and Howard McGaffney to sign checks.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2023-13 Authorization of Bank Account Signatories, was 
approved.  

 

C. Consideration of Resolution 2023-14 Relating to Defense of Board Members 
 Mr. Haber stated this is a resolution that establishes what would happen if a District, or in 

particular an individual Board member ever got sued, the CDD is obligated to provide a defense 

or pay for your defense. This happens when you have residents controlling the Board and 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

9 

frequently have residents who dislike each other and they want to try and get them for violating 

the Sunshine Law or the Public Record Law. There is going to be directors’ and officers’ insurance 

in place. There are lawyers that will sue anybody for any reason. This covers how you are provided 

coverage. We would make a claim under the directors’ and officers’ insurance. They retain 

separate litigation counsel and the insurance then picks up essentially the tab for that defense. We 

put this resolution in place for all of our Districts that establishes the manner in which you would 

be provided defense although highly unlikely you get sued. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-14 Relating to Defense of Board Members, 
was approved.  

 

D. Consideration of Resolution 2023-15 Adopting Internal Controls Policy 
 Mr. Haber stated that we need to get audited on a regular basis. The auditor is going to look 

to see if we have adopted this very document. If you look at the document, it talks about internal 

control and fraud abuse so this checks the box when the auditor comes to look to see if we have 

this type of policy in place. We show him this resolution and this policy and we get a check mark.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 02023-15 Adopting Internal Controls Policy, was 
approved.  

 

E. Resolution 2023-16 Ratifying District Counsel Recording the “Notice of 
Establishment” in the Property Records of Duval County in accordance with Chapter 
190.0485, Florida Statutes  
1.  Notice of Establishment 

 Mr. Laughlin noted there is the notice of establishment tied to that resolution. Mr. Haber 

stated that is something that has already been done because it was required to be done within 30 

days of the establishment of the CDD so my office went ahead and recorded it just to make sure 

we are compliant. As we mentioned, it is recorded in public records now.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-16 Ratifying District Counsel Recording the 
“Notice of Establishment” in the Property Records of Duval County 
in accordance with Chapter 190.0485, Florida Statute, was approved.  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

10 

 
F. Consideration of Resolution 2023-17 Adopting Investment Guidelines 

 Mr. Laughlin stated we are fairly limited on what we can invest in since we are public 

funds with a risk level that has to be priority over the return of the investment.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-17 Adopting Investment Guidelines, was 
approved.  

 

G. Consideration of Resolution 2023-18 Authorizing Execution of Public Depositor 
Report 

 Mr. Laughlin stated this is authorizing the District Manager myself as Treasurer to execute 

that report which the accountants will do and then I will sign off on.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-18 Authorizing Execution of Public 
Depositor Report, was approved.  

 

H. Consideration of Resolution 2023-19 Designating a Policy for Public Comments 
 Mr. Laughlin stated this is something that will not really be that effective until we have 

more residents and they start attending but this sets the policy of things being such as they have 

three minutes to speak and anything that would happen during these public comment sections, 

which you will notice we had one at the beginning of the meeting and there will be one at end of 

meetings too. Mr. Haber stated when going through the agenda, you will have members of the 

public raising their hand, you would say make your comments at the top and the bottom of the 

agenda. The rest of the agenda is for the Board to discuss and if the Board wants to let you make 

a comment during that discussion they can but there is no requirement.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Egger, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-19 Designating a Policy for Public 
Comments, was approved.  

 

I. Consideration of Resolution 2023-20 Adopting a Travel and Reimbursement Policy 
 Mr. Laughlin stated this is something that is required to be done whether it is taken 

advantage of or not but Board members do have the right to have travel reimbursement.  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

11 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-20 Adopting a Travel and Reimbursement 
Policy, was approved.  

 

J. Consideration of Resolution 2023-21 Adopting Prompt Payment Policy 
 Mr. Laughlin stated this sets how we pay vendors. Mr. Haber stated all of the contacts 

require us to have essentially a 45-day period and it sets forth the penalties if you do not meet 

within that timeframe. If you are dissatisfied with the service or product, you have the right to 

inform them that you are dissatisfied and are not paying for it but you have to follow this process 

in order to do that. If you fail to follow this process or just don’t pay in time then there are the 

interest penalties that accrue.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-21 Adopting Prompt Payment Policy, was 
approved.  

 

K. Consideration of Resolution 2023-22 Adopting a Records Retention Policy  
 Mr. Haber reviewed different options for record retention. He suggested the District 

approve keeping all records indefinitely until otherwise directed by the Board.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-22 Adopting a Records Retention Policy, was 
approved.  

 

L. Consideration of Compensation to Board Members 
 Mr. Laughlin stated Board members are eligible for up to $200 a meeting up to $4,800 per 

year in compensation so this will set that policy. Mr. Haber stated it is really each individual Board 

members decision on whether they want to accept or not accept payment. The four Board members 

waived compensation.  

 

M. Resolution 2023-23 Designating the Primary Administrative Office and Principal 
Headquarters of the District  

 Mr. Laughlin stated this will be setting the administrative office as our Riverside 

Management office.   



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

12 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2023-23 Designating the Primary Administrative Office 
and Principal Headquarters of the District, was approved.  

 

N. Consideration of Website Services Agreement 
 Mr. Laughlin stated there is a proposal from Realign Web Design. They do a lot of our 

Districts. We are required to have a web site for the District. It will be $1,750 to create the web 

site. There is the option of ADA compliance audit that is $960 annually. You do not necessarily 

have to accept that as it is something that they offer. The websites do have to be ADA compliant.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, the Website Services Agreement, was approved.  

 

O. Authorization to Prepare Facilities Report in Accordance with Chapter 189.08 
Florida Statutes to Coincide with Special District Filing Date of August 1st for Duval 
County  

 Mr. Laughlin stated this is a report that is required if you have done any of the public 

facilities reports in the past. Mr. Haber stated for this August there is a need to do one because we 

do not have any public facilities. It is really going to start once we start. Mr. Laughlin stated every 

seven years this needs to be updated. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Authorization to Prepare Public Facilities Report in 
Accordance with Chapter 189.09 Florida Statutes to Coincide with 
Special District Filing Date of August 1st for Duval County, was 
approved.  

 

P. Consideration of Resolution 2023-24 Authorizing Chairperson to Execute Plats, 
Permits, and Conveyances 

 Mr. Haber stated this is less important now but once you start developing for efficiency’s 

sake, it helps to have that authority designated to the Chair and Vice Chair so you can move 

forward with a plat without having to worry about convening a meeting.  

 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

13 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-24 Authorizing Chairperson to Execute Plats, 
Permits, and Conveyances, was approved.  

 

Q. Consideration of Resolution 2023-25, Authorizing the Disbursement of Funds 
 Mr. Laughlin stated that this covers how things can be paid outside of meetings. He noted 

a lot of the items are contractual. Mr. Haber stated it is an efficiency type thing. It is what you are 

designating to pay for things without having to come before the Board. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. English, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-25, Authorizing the Disbursement of Funds, 
was approved.  

 

R. Consideration of Resolution 2023-26, Authorizing Direct Purchases 
 Mr. Laughlin stated that to the extent the CDD enters into a construction contract, you can 

change order that contract with the contractor to identify supplies and materials and the change 

order removes the materials from the contract to save on sales tax.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-26, Authorizing Direct Purchase, was 
approved.  

 

S. Appointment of Audit Committee  
 Mr. Laughlin suggested that the Board appoint themselves as the Audit Committee. The 

Audit Committee will issue an RFP and will make a selection from the RFPs that are received.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Appointing the Board of Supervisors as the Audit Committee, 
was approved.  

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Capital Improvements 
A. Appointing of Financing Team 

1. Bond Counsel 
a. Consideration of Resolution 2023-27, Appointing Bond Counsel 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

14 

Mr. Haber stated that bond counsel would be Bryant, Miller, Olive. Sarah Warren was 

present as a representative for the firm and introduced herself to the Board. She reviewed their 

standard form of engagement agreement and offered to answer any questions.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-27, Appointing Bond Counsel, was 
approved.  

 

2. Investment Banker 
a. Consideration of Resolution 2023-28, Appointing an Investment Banker 

 Mr. Laughlin noted that this would appoint MBS Capital as the investment Banker. Sete 

Zare was the representative for MBS on the line.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-28, Appointing an Investment Banker, was 
approved.  

 
3. Assessment Administrator 

 Mr. Laughlin suggested appointing GMS as the Assessment Administrator. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Egger, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Appointing GMS as the Assessment Administrator, was 
approved.  

 
4. Trustee 

 Mr. Laughlin suggested appointing U.S. Bank as the Trustee.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. Leone, with all in favor, 
Appointing U.S. Bank as the Trustee, was approved.  

 

B. Approval of Financing Team Funding Agreement 
 Mr. Laughlin reviewed the Financing Team Funding Agreement for the Board. Mr. Haber 

noted that this is a funding agreement that provides for bond and capital related items.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Financing Team Funding Agreement, was approved.  



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

15 

 
SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Financing Matters 

A. Consideration of Master Engineer’s Report  
Mr. Haber stated that they were starting the assessment process and in order to do that the 

District approves the engineer’s report which describes all the public infrastructure that the District 

may fund with the issuance of bonds.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Master Engineer’s Report, was approved.  

 

B. Consideration of Master Assessment Methodology Report 
Mr. Haber stated that this report represents the maximum amount of bonds that the District 

may need to issue to fund the entire project identified in the engineer’s report. Mr. Oliver stated 

that as they get closer to bond issuance, they will tighten up the engineer’s report and the 

methodology. Mr. Oliver stated that this talks about a true-up which ensures that there is no 

remaining debt greater than the debt assigned to each of the acres. He noted that there were 

currently 742 lots based on 40, 50, and 80’ lots. The infrastructure improvements total 

$42,000,000.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Master Assessment Methodology Report, was approved.  

 

C. Consideration of Resolution 2023-29, Declaring Special Assessments Setting a Public 
Hearing 
Mr. Laughlin suggested setting the public hearing date on August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. 

Mr. Haber stated that this does require a 30-day mailed notice.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-29, Declaring Special Assessments Setting a 
Public Hearing for August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m., was approved.  

 

D. Consideration of Resolution 2023-30 Setting a Public Hearing for Imposing Special 
Assessments  
Mr. Laughlin suggested setting the public hearing date on August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. 

 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

16 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-30 Setting a Public Hearing for Imposing 
Special Assessments for August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m., was 
approved.  

 

E. Consideration of Resolution 2023-31, Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds and 
Authorizing the Commencement of Validation Proceedings  
Ms. Warren reviewed the resolution for the Board and noted that it details certain 

characteristics of the bonds, namely being that the interest rate will not exceed the lawful interest 

rate under the state of Florida laws. Section 4 authorizes the execution and delivery of the Master 

Trust Indenture which is a requirement of Chapter 75. Section 6 appoints U.S. Bank Trust 

Company as your Trustee which is a requirement of Chapter 75. Section 7 authorizes District 

Counsel and Bond Counsel to commence bond validation proceedings in the circuit court which 

is a requirement that has to be met prior to the District actually issuing bonds. Section 9 requires 

that for any particular series of bonds that would be issue by the District, a subsequent resolution 

has to be authorized and approved by the District.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. Egger, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2023-31, Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds and 
Authorizing the Commencement of Validation Proceedings, was 
approved.  

 

F. Consideration of Acquisition Agreement 
 Mr. Laughlin stated that because they are now working through the off-site improvements 

where the District may acquire those improvements in advance of having those bonds, they put 

this agreement in place.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Allen, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the Acquisition Agreement, was approved.  

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Business 
A. Staff Reports 

1. Attorney 
a. Presentation of E-Verify Memorandum 



July 26, 2023 Darby CDD 

17 

Mr. Haber stated that the CDD is required to comply with E-Verify which means any 

agreement entered into is required to have specific contractual language saying that the contractor 

is compliant with E-Verify which is the check on immigration status.  

 
2. Manager  

 Mr. Laughlin had nothing further to report. 

 

B. Supervisors Requests  
 Mr. Laughlin stated at normal meetings this will be open to any questions, audience to 

make any comments on agenda items and audience comments are just open comments where they 

can state any of their concerns. We have no audience members present.  

   

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment   
 Mr. Laughlin noted that the next scheduled meeting was August 29, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. 

Mr. Laughlin adjourned the meeting.    

 

On MOTION by Mr. Leone, seconded by Mr. English, with all in 
favor, the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

    
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



RESOLUTION 2023-34 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DARBY COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS; 
ADOPTING A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN; PROVIDING 
AN ESTIMATED COST OF IMPROVEMENTS; ADOPTING AN 
ASSESSMENT REPORT; EQUALIZING, APPROVING, 
CONFIRMING AND LEVYING DEBT ASSESSMENTS ON 
PROPERTY SPECIALLY BENEFITED BY SUCH PROJECTS TO 
PAY THE COST THEREOF; ADDRESSING THE FINALIZATION 
OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; ADDRESSING THE PAYMENT 
OF DEBT ASSESSMENTS AND THE METHOD OF 
COLLECTION; PROVIDING FOR THE ALLOCATION OF DEBT 
ASSESSMENTS AND TRUE-UP PAYMENTS; ADDRESSING 
GOVERNMENT PROPERTY AND TRANSFERS OF PROPERTY 
TO UNITS OF LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL GOVERNMENT; 
AUTHORIZING AN ASSESSMENT NOTICE; AND PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Darby Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-

purpose government established and existing under and pursuant to the Uniform Community Development 
District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Act”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the District has previously indicated its intention to construct certain types of 

improvements and to finance such improvements through the issuance of bonds, notes, or other specific 
financing mechanisms, which bonds, notes or other specific financing mechanisms would be repaid by the 
imposition of special assessments on benefited property within the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) has noticed and conducted a public 
hearing pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, relating to the imposition, levy, collection, 
and enforcement of such assessments, and now desires to adopt a resolution imposing and levying such 
assessments as set forth herein. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. AUTHORITY.  This Resolution is adopted pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, 

Florida Statutes, including without limitation, Section 170.08, Florida Statutes.  The recitals stated above 
are incorporated herein; are adopted by the Board as true and correct statements; and are further declared 
to be findings made and determined by the Board.  
 

2. FINDINGS.  The Board further finds and determines as follows: 
 

The Capital Improvement Plan 
 

a. The District is authorized by Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, to finance, fund, plan, 
establish, acquire, install, equip, operate, extend, construct, or reconstruct stormwater 
management, water and sewer systems, roadway and sidewalk improvements; electrical 
and street lights, landscaping and recreational spaces, and other infrastructure projects and 
services necessitated by the development of, and serving lands within, the District; and 



 
b. On July 26, 2023, and pursuant to Section 170.03, Florida Statutes, among other laws, the 

Board adopted Resolutions 2023-29 and 2023-30 (collectively the “Declaring 
Resolution”), and in doing so determined to undertake, install, plan, establish, construct or 
reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, acquire, operate, and/or maintain the infrastructure 
improvements described in the Master Engineer’s Report for Darby Subdivision, dated 
July 19, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference  
(“Capital Improvement Plan,” and the project described therein, the “Project”); and 

 
c. The plans and specifications for the Project are on file in the offices of the District Manager 

at c/o Governmental Management Services, LLC, 475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. 
Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District Records Office”); and 

 
The Debt Assessment Process 

 
d. Also, as part of the Declaring Resolution, the Board expressed an intention to issue bonds, 

notes, or other specific financing mechanisms to provide all or a portion of the funds needed 
for the Project, and further declared its intention to defray the whole or any part of the 
expense of the Project by levying special assessments (“Debt Assessments”) on specially 
benefited property within the District; and 
 

e. The Declaring Resolution was adopted in compliance with the requirements of Section 
170.03, Florida Statutes, and prior to the time it was adopted, the requirements of Section 
170.04, Florida Statutes, had been met; and 

 
f. As directed by the Declaring Resolution, said Declaring Resolution was published as 

required by Section 170.05, Florida Statutes, and a copy of the publisher’s affidavit of 
publication is on file with the Secretary of the District; and 

 
g. As directed by the Declaring Resolution, the Board caused to be made a preliminary 

assessment roll as required by Section 170.06, Florida Statutes; and 
 

h. As required by Section 170.07, Florida Statutes, and as part of the Declaring Resolution, 
the Board fixed the time and place of a public hearing at which owners of the property to 
be assessed and other persons interested therein could appear before the Board and be heard 
as to (i) the propriety and advisability of making the improvements, (ii) the cost thereof, 
(iii) the manner of payment therefore, and (iv) the amount thereof to be assessed against 
each specially benefited property or parcel, and the Board further authorized publication 
of notice of such public hearing and individual mailed notice of such public hearing in 
accordance with Chapters 170, 190, and 197, Florida Statutes; and 

 
i. Notice of the scheduled public hearing was given by publication and also by mail as 

required by Sections 170.07 and 197.3632, Florida Statutes, and affidavits as to such 
publication and mailings are on file in the office of the Secretary of the District; and 
 

j. On August 29, 2023, and at the time specified in the Declaring Resolution, the Board 
conducted such public hearing and heard and considered all complaints and testimony as 
to the matters described above; the Board further met as an “Equalization Board;” and the 
Board has made such modifications in the preliminary assessment roll as it deems 
necessary, just, and right in the making of the final assessment roll; and 

 



Equalization Board Additional Findings 
 

k. Having considered the estimated costs of the Project, the estimated financing costs and all 
comments and evidence presented at such public hearing, the Board further finds and 
determines that: 
 

i. It is necessary to the public health, safety, and welfare and in the best interests of 
the District that:  (1) the District provide the Project as set forth in the Capital 
Improvement Plan; (2) the cost of such Project be assessed against the lands 
specially benefited by such Project; and (3) the District issue bonds, notes or other 
specific financing mechanisms to provide funds for such purposes pending the 
receipt of such Debt Assessments; and 
 

ii. The provision of said Project, the levying of the Debt Assessments, and the sale 
and issuance of such bonds, notes, or other specific financing mechanisms serve a 
proper, essential, and valid public purpose and are in the best interests of the 
District, its landowners, and residents; and 

 
iii. The estimated costs of the Project are as specified in the Capital Improvement Plan 

and Assessment Report (defined below), and the amount of such costs is 
reasonable and proper; and 

 
iv. It is reasonable, proper, just, and right to assess the cost of such Project against the 

properties specially benefited thereby, using the method determined by the Board 
and set forth in the Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated July 26, 
2023 (“Assessment Report,” attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein 
by this reference), which results in the Debt Assessments set forth on the final 
assessment roll; and 

 
v. The Project benefits all developable property within the District; and 

 
vi. Accordingly, the Debt Assessments as set forth in the Assessment Report 

constitute a special benefit to all parcels of real property listed on said final 
assessment roll, and the benefit, in the case of each such parcel, will be equal to or 
in excess of the Debt Assessments imposed thereon, as set forth in Exhibit B; and  

 
vii. All developable property within the District is deemed to be benefited by the 

Project, and the Debt Assessments will be allocated in accordance with the 
Assessment Report at Exhibit B; and 

 
viii. The Debt Assessments are fairly and reasonably allocated across the benefitted 

property, as set forth in Exhibit B; and 
 

ix. It is in the best interests of the District that the Debt Assessments be paid and 
collected as herein provided; and 

 
x. In order to provide funds with which to pay the costs of the Project which are to 

be assessed against the benefited properties, pending the collection of the Debt 
Assessments, it is necessary for the District to issue revenue bonds, notes, or other 
specific financing mechanisms, including refunding bonds (together, “Bonds”). 

 



3. AUTHORIZATION FOR PROJECT; ADOPTION OF CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN.  The Capital Improvement Plan identifies and describes the infrastructure 
improvements to be financed with the Bonds and sets forth the costs of the Project.  The District hereby 
confirms that the Project serves a proper, essential, and valid public purpose.  The use of the Capital 
Improvement Plan in connection with the sale of the Bonds is hereby authorized, approved, and ratified, 
and the proper officers, employees and/or agents of the District are hereby authorized and directed to take 
such further action as may be necessary or desirable to cause the same to be made. 
 

4. ESTIMATED COST OF IMPROVEMENTS.  The total estimated costs of the Project 
and the costs to be paid by the Debt Assessments on all specially benefited property are set forth in Exhibits 
A and B, respectively, hereto. 
 

5. ADOPTION OF ASSESSMENT REPORT.  The Assessment Report setting forth the 
allocation of Debt Assessments to the benefitted lands within the District is hereby approved, adopted, and 
confirmed.  The District authorizes its use in connection with the sale of the Bonds. 

 
6. EQUALIZATION, APPROVAL, CONFIRMATION AND LEVY OF DEBT 

ASSESSMENTS.  The Debt Assessments imposed on the parcels specially benefited by the Project, all as 
specified in the final assessment roll set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto, are hereby equalized, approved, 
confirmed, and levied. Immediately following the adoption of this Resolution, the lien of Debt Assessments 
as reflected in Exhibit B, attached hereto, shall be recorded by the Secretary of the District in the District’s 
“Improvement Lien Book.”  The Debt Assessments against each respective parcel shown on such final 
assessment roll and interest, costs, and penalties thereon, as hereafter provided, shall be and shall remain a 
legal, valid, and binding first lien on such parcel, coequal with the lien of all state, county, district, municipal 
or other governmental taxes and superior in dignity to all other liens, titles, and claims.   

 
a. Supplemental Assessment Resolutions for Bonds.  The lien for the Debt Assessments 

established hereunder shall be inchoate until the District issues Bonds.  In connection with 
the issuance of any particular series of the Bonds, the District may adopt, without the need 
for further public hearing, a supplemental assessment resolution establishing specific Debt 
Assessments, in one or more separately enforceable Debt Assessment liens, securing such 
Bonds.  Such subsequent resolutions shall be adopted at a noticed meeting of the District, 
and shall set forth the actual amounts financed, costs of issuance, expected costs of 
collection, and the total amount of the assessments pledged to that issue, which amount 
shall be consistent with the lien imposed by this Resolution. Among other things, the 
supplemental assessment resolutions may provide for the issuance of multiple series of 
Bonds each secured by one or more different assessment areas within the District.   
 

b. Adjustments to Debt Assessments.  The District may, by subsequent resolution, adjust the 
acreage assigned to particular parcel identification numbers listed on the final assessment 
roll to reflect accurate apportionment of acreage amongst individual parcel identification 
numbers. The District may make any other such acreage and boundary adjustments to 
parcels listed on the final assessment roll as may be necessary and in the best interests of 
the District, as determined by the Board by subsequent resolution.  Any such adjustment 
in the assessment roll shall be consistent with the requirements of law.   

 
7. FINALIZATION OF DEBT ASSESSMENTS.  When a project has been constructed or 

otherwise provided to the satisfaction of the Board, the Board shall adopt a resolution accepting the same 
and determining the actual costs (including financing costs) thereof, as required by Sections 170.08 and 
170.09, Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Section 170.08, Florida Statutes, the District shall credit to each Debt 
Assessment the difference, if any, between the Debt Assessment as hereby made, approved, and confirmed 



and the actual costs incurred in completing the applicable project.  In making such credits, no credit shall 
be given for bond, note or other specific financing mechanism costs, capitalized interest, funded reserves 
or bond or other discounts.  Such credits, if any, shall be entered in the Improvement Lien Book.   

 
8. PAYMENT OF DEBT ASSESSMENTS AND METHOD OF COLLECTION.   
 

a. Payment.  The Debt Assessments, as further set forth in each supplemental assessment 
resolution, and securing the issuance of each series of the Bonds, may be paid in not more 
than thirty (30) yearly installments of principal and interest – beginning upon the issuance 
of the particular series of the Bonds (and after taking into account any capitalized interest 
periods), provided, however, that the Board shall at any time make such adjustments by 
resolution, and at a noticed meeting of the Board, to that payment schedule as may be 
necessary and in the best interests of the District to account for changes in long and short 
term debt as actually issued by the District. 
 

b. Prepayment.  Subject to the provisions of any supplemental assessment resolution, any 
owner of property subject to the Debt Assessments may, at its option, pre-pay the entire 
amount of the Debt Assessment any time, or a portion of the amount of the Debt 
Assessment up to two times, plus accrued interest to the next succeeding interest payment 
date (or the second succeeding interest payment date if such prepayment is made within 
forty-five (45) calendar days before an interest payment date (or such other time as set forth 
in the supplemental indenture for the applicable series of bonds secured by the Debt 
Assessments in question), attributable to the property subject to Debt Assessments owned 
by such owner.  Prepayment of Debt Assessments does not entitle the property owner to 
any discounts for early payment.  If authorized by a supplemental assessment resolution, 
the District may grant a discount equal to all or a part of the payee’s proportionate share of 
the cost of the Project consisting of bond financing costs, such as capitalized interest, 
funded reserves, and bond discount included in the estimated cost of the Project, upon 
payment in full of any Debt Assessment during such period prior to the time such financing 
costs are incurred as may be specified by the District. 

 
c. Uniform Method; Alternatives.  The District may elect to use the method of collecting 

Debt Assessments authorized by Sections 197.3632 and 197.3635, Florida Statutes 
(“Uniform Method”). The District has heretofore taken, or will take prior to collection, all 
required actions to comply with Sections 197.3632 and 197.3635, Florida Statutes.  Such 
Debt Assessments may be subject to all of the collection provisions of Chapter 197, Florida 
Statutes.  Notwithstanding the above, in the event the Uniform Method of collecting its 
Debt Assessments is not available to the District in any year, or if determined by the District 
to be in its best interests, and subject to the terms of any applicable trust indenture, the Debt 
Assessments may be collected as is otherwise permitted by law.  In particular, the District 
may, in its sole discretion, collect Debt Assessments by directly billing landowners and 
enforcing said collection in any manner authorized by law.  Any prejudgment interest on 
delinquent assessments that are directly billed shall accrue at the applicable rate of any 
bonds or other debt instruments secured by the Debt Assessments.  The decision to collect 
Debt Assessments by any particular method – e.g., on the tax roll or by direct bill – does 
not mean that such method will be used to collect Debt Assessments in future years, and 
the District reserves the right in its sole discretion to select collection methods in any given 
year, regardless of past practices.   
 

d. Uniform Method Agreements Authorized.  For each year the District uses the Uniform 
Method, the District shall enter into an agreement with the County Tax Collector who may 



notify each owner of a lot or parcel within the District of the amount of the special 
assessment, including interest thereon, in the manner provided in Section 197.3635, 
Florida Statutes. 

 
e. Re-amortization.  Any particular lien of the Debt Assessments shall be subject to re-

amortization where the applicable series of Bonds is subject to re-amortization pursuant to 
the applicable trust indenture and where the context allows. 

 
 9. ALLOCATION OF DEBT ASSESSMENTS; APPLICATION OF TRUE-UP 
PAYMENTS.   

 
a. At such time as parcels of land, or portions thereof, are included in a plat or site plan, it 

shall be an express condition of the lien established by this Resolution that, prior to County 
approval, any and all plats or site plans for any portion of the lands within the District, as 
the District’s boundaries may be amended from time to time, shall be presented to the 
District Manager for review.  As parcels of land, or portions thereof, are included in a plat 
or site plan, the District Manager shall review the plat or site plan and cause the Debt 
Assessments securing each series of Bonds to be reallocated to the units being included in 
the plat or site plan and the remaining property in accordance with Exhibit B, and cause 
such reallocation to be recorded in the District’s Improvement Lien Book. 
 

b. Pursuant to the Assessment Report, attached hereto as Exhibit B, and which terms are 
incorporated herein, there may be required from time to time certain true-up payments.  
When a plat or site plan is presented to the District, the District Manager shall review the 
plat or site plan to determine whether, taking into account the plat or site plan, there is a 
net shortfall in the overall principal amount of assessments reasonably able to be assigned 
to benefitted lands within the District. Such determination shall be made based on the 
language in this Resolution and/or the tests or other methods set forth in Exhibit B (if any), 
or any tests or methods set forth in a supplemental assessment resolution and corresponding 
assessment report.  If the overall principal amount of assessments reasonably cannot be 
assigned, or is not reasonably expected to be assigned, as set forth in more detail in and 
subject to the terms of Exhibit B (or any supplemental resolution and report, as applicable), 
to the platted and site planned lands as well as the undeveloped lands, then a debt reduction 
payment (“True-Up Payment”) in the amount of such shortfall shall become due and 
payable that tax year by the landowner(s) of record of the land subject to the proposed plat 
or site plan and of the remaining undeveloped lands, in addition to any regular assessment 
installment. The District’s review shall be limited solely to this function and the 
enforcement of the lien established by this Resolution. In the event a True-Up Payment is 
due and unpaid, the lien established herein for the True-Up Payment amount shall remain 
in place until such time as the True-Up Payment is made.  The District shall record all 
True-Up Payments in its Improvement Lien Book. 
 

c. In connection with any true-up determination, affected landowner(s) may request that such 
true-up determination be deferred because the remaining undeveloped lands are able to 
support the development of all of the originally planned units within the District.  To 
support the request, the affected landowner(s) shall provide the following evidence for the 
District’s consideration:  a) proof of the amount of entitlements remaining on the 
undeveloped lands within the District, b) a revised overall development plan showing the 
number and type of units reasonably planned for the remainder of the development, c) 
evidence of allowable zoning conditions that would enable those entitlements to be placed 
in accordance with the revised development plan, and d) documentation prepared by a 



licensed engineer that shows the feasibility of implementing the proposed development 
plan. Any deferment shall be in the District’s reasonable discretion. 
 

d. The foregoing is based on the District's understanding that the community would be 
developed with the type and number of units set forth in Exhibit B, on the developable 
acres.  However, more than the stated number of units may be developed.  In no event shall 
the District collect Debt Assessments pursuant to this Resolution in excess of the total debt 
service related to the Project, including all costs of financing and interest.  The District 
recognizes that such things as regulatory requirements and market conditions may affect 
the timing and scope of the development in the District.  If the strict application of the true-
up methodology to any assessment reallocation pursuant to this paragraph would result in 
Debt Assessments collected in excess of the District's total debt service obligations for the 
Project, the Board shall by resolution take appropriate action to equitably reallocate the 
Debt Assessments.   

 
e. As set forth in any supplemental assessment resolution and/or supplemental assessment 

report for a specific series of Bonds, the District may assign a specific debt service 
assessment lien comprising a portion of the Debt Assessments to an assessment area 
comprised of specific unplatted lands which are less than all of the unplatted lands in the 
District, and, accordingly, any related true-up determinations may be limited to 
determining whether the planned units for such specified lands in the assessment area have 
been and/or will be developed.  

 
 10. GOVERNMENT PROPERTY; TRANSFERS OF PROPERTY TO UNITS OF 
LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL GOVERNMENT.  Real property owned by units of local, state, and 
federal governments, or similarly exempt entities, shall not be subject to the Debt Assessments without 
specific consent thereto.  If at any time, any real property on which Debt Assessments are imposed by this 
Resolution is sold or otherwise transferred to a unit of local, state, or federal government (without consent 
of such governmental unit to the imposition of Debt Assessments thereon), or similarly exempt entity, all 
future unpaid Debt Assessments for such tax parcel shall become due and payable immediately prior to 
such transfer without any further action of the District. 
  

11. ASSESSMENT NOTICE. The District’s Secretary is hereby directed to record a general 
Notice of Assessments in the Official Records of Duval County, Florida, which shall be updated from time 
to time in a manner consistent with changes in the boundaries of the District.   
 

12. SEVERABILITY.  If any section or part of a section of this Resolution is declared invalid 
or unconstitutional, the validity, force and effect of any other section or part of a section of this Resolution 
shall not thereby be affected or impaired unless it clearly appears that such other section or part of a section 
of this Resolution is wholly or necessarily dependent upon the section or part of a section so held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
13. CONFLICTS.  All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of 

such conflict, superseded and repealed. 
 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption. 

 

  



 APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 29th DAY OF AUGUST, 2023. 
 
ATTEST:  DARBY COMMUNITY 
   DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
_________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
    
 
Exhibit A:   Master Engineer’s Report for Darby Subdivision, dated July 19, 2023 
Exhibit B:   Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, dated July 26, 2023 

  



Exhibit A 
Engineer’s Report 

  



MASTER ENGINEER’S REPORT
for

DARBY SUBDIVISION
JACKSONVILLE, DUVAL COUNTY

Prepared for:

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
DARBY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

July 19, 2023

Prepared by

CONNELLY & WICKER INC.
10060 Skinner Lake Drive, Suite 500

Jacksonville, FL  32246
(904) 265-3030 · Fax (904) 265-3031

C.A. Number: 3650



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1.0 INTRODUCTION .........................................................................................................3
1.1 Background .....................................................................................................................3
1.2 Proposed Land Uses ........................................................................................................3

2.0 DARBY CDD IMPROVEMENTS ................................................................................4
2.1 Infrastructure ...................................................................................................................4

2.1.1 Offsite Improvements...........................................................................................4
2.1.2 Internal Roadways and Sidewalk Connections .....................................................4
2.1.3 Recreation Space and Landscape ..........................................................................4
2.1.4 Electrical ..............................................................................................................4
2.1.5 Water and Sewer ..................................................................................................4
2.1.6 Stormwater Management Facilities ......................................................................4
2.1.7 Environmental Preservation .................................................................................5

2.2 Engineering and Permitting .............................................................................................5
2.3 Ownership and Maintenance ............................................................................................6

3.0 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN ............................................................................7
3.1 Improvement Costs ..........................................................................................................7
3.2 Permit Status ...................................................................................................................8

3.2.1 Duval County Permits ..........................................................................................8
3.2.2 JEA Water and Sewer Permits ..............................................................................8
3.2.3 FDEP Water and Sewer Permits ...........................................................................8
3.2.4 SJRWMD ERP Permit .........................................................................................8

3.3 Construction Status ..........................................................................................................8

4.0 ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION ................................................................................9

ATTACHMENT A - MAPS
General Location Map
PUD Vérification Map
Land Use Map
Water and Wastewater Facilities Map



1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The Darby Community Development District (“CDD”) was established by Duval
County Ordinance No. 2023-301-E enacted on June 13, 2023 and effective on June 14, 2023 in
accordance with Chapter 190, Florida Statutes. The purpose of the CDD is to provide an
instrument for financing, constructing, operating, and maintaining the Public Infrastructure
located within and outside the CDD.

The Darby CDD property is a Planned Unit Development (PUD) located in Jacksonville, Duval
County, Florida.  It is bounded on the North by Plummer Road, on the South by residential
properties, undeveloped lands and railroad, on the West by undeveloped lands, and on the East
by residential properties.

A location map of the CDD is included in Attachment A - Maps.

1.2 Proposed Land Uses

The Darby CDD consists of approximately 407.9 acres developed with 742 residential lots.  The
land uses are presented in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1:  Land Uses

Land Use Acres Residential Units
Single Family 104.84 742

Stormwater Ponds 20.84
Right of Way 30.61

Recreation and Open Space 7.67
Wetlands 215.57

Upland Buffers and Compensatory Ponds 28.37
Total 407.9 742

The Planned Unit Development Verification Map is included in Attachment A - Maps



2.0 DARBY CDD IMPROVEMENTS

2.1 Infrastructure

The infrastructure improvements will provide offsite improvement, internal roadways, sidewalk
connections, recreation space and landscape.  As well as electrical, water and sewer utilities,
stormwater facilities, and environmental preservation areas.  Infrastructure elements are further
described below:

2.1.1 Offsite Improvements
The turn lane into the CDD is located outside of the CDD Boundary but developed for the safety of
the community.   Additionally, the Water Main and Sewer Force Main are extended offsite to
connect to JEA connection points.

See Major Water and Wastewater Facilities Map in Attachment A.

2.1.2 Internal Roadways and Sidewalk Connections
The main drive entering from Plummer Road, connects to the 4 Phases of residences.  Additionally,
there are sidewalk connections throughout and a multiuse path leading to the recreation areas.

2.1.3 Recreation Space and Landscape
The Recreation Space is located on the main road and will consist of a Tot Lot, Dog Park, Pool &
Pavilion, unimproved trails and fishing pond.  Darby Subdivision will not be gated and monument
signage and entry landscaping are planned.

2.1.4 Electrical
JEA will provide the electrical infrastructure to include underground electric utility lines and street
lights.    The CDD will finance the cost as each phase enters into construction.

2.1.5 Water and Sewer
There will be 3 Lift Stations with one being a Master Lift Station.  Gravity Sewer will serve the
individual lots and the Lift Stations will be manifolded together.  Domestic Water and Fire
Protection will serve each individual lot.   All Water and Sewer services will be dedicated to JEA.
The points of connection are outside the CDD Boundary and described above.

2.1.6 Stormwater Management Facilities
The development consists of 742 Single Family units and associated roadways, utilities, and storm
water management system.  There are Eleven Stormwater Wet Detention Ponds which will provide
the required treatment volume and will discharge via an Outlet Control Structures and Weirs.
Additionally, there are Five up-flow filter boxes that provide additional treatment for nutrient
removal.



Specifications for wet detention were used to design the Eleven Stormwater Management Facilities
(SWMF-1 through SWMF-11) to service this site.  Methods obtained from the Environmental
Resource Permit (ERP) Applicants Handbook published June 1, 2018 was used to determine the
required treatment volume and recovery time

In addition to storm analysis meeting the St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD)
criteria, the City of Jacksonville requires a 5-year analysis to establish a starting elevation in the
Stormwater Management Facility for the storm sewer design when the SCS method is utilized.
Using that data, elevations of the roadway and the storm pipe infrastructure is established.

The overall Stormwater Plan was developed in two Drainage Analysis Reports and associated
Construction plans.  These plans identify:

1. Stormwater Pond locations, controls, and peak discharge rates,
2. Water quality requirements,
3. 100-year floodplain elevations and compensating storage requirements to mitigate for

encroachments;
4. Wetland studies and mitigation requirements, and
5. Groundwater flows.

Permitting by SJRWMD and Duval County will be obtained for each Phase prior to construction.
The drainage system will maintain existing drainage patterns to the greatest extent possible. The
Stormwater Wet Detention Ponds will provide for treatment and attenuation.  With SJRWMD
regulations in mind, permitting wetlands impacted for new infrastructure will require mitigation
planned as onsite preservation and purchasing of credits.

Storm inlets and piping will remove surface drainage from the roadways and covey stormwater
to the onsite ponds.  The elevations of the roads are designed to maintain a 20-inch separation
from groundwater to help protect the road base material.  Where this is not possible an
underdrain system will be installed to assist in draining the excess groundwater.

2.1.7 Environmental Preservation
215.57+ acres of Wetlands will be preserved onsite.  Further the CDD will purchase Wetland
Preservation Credits to mitigate impacts.  The onsite wetlands will be placed into a Conservation
Easement.  Where possible, wetland buffers added between the wetlands and developed properties
will have signage to further protect the wetlands.

2.2 Engineering and Permitting
The CDD will pay for Engineering Design, Flood Plain Studies, Geotechnical Studies,
Environmental Studies, and Permit Fees associated with the Capital Improvement Plan.



2.3 Ownership and Maintenance
All improvements funded by the CDD will be on land owned by, or on which a permanent
easement is granted in favor of, the CDD or another governmental entity. The ownership and
maintenance responsibilities for the infrastructure improvements within the CDD vary by the
improvement as presented in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1:  O&M

Improvement Ownership Maintenance Entity
Offsite Improvements Duval County and JEA Duval County and JEA
Internal Roads & Walks in ROW Duval County Duval County
Recreation & Landscape CDD CDD
Electrical JEA JEA
Water and Sewer JEA JEA
Stormwater Management CDD CDD
Environmental Preservation CDD CDD



3.0 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

3.1 Improvement Costs
The infrastructure improvements may be divided into several construction/acquisition packages.
The total cost of the Capital Improvement Plan is estimated at $42,029,037.72.  The costs
presented below are based upon current construction contracts for Phase 1, Phase 2, and Offsite
Water & Sewer.  Engineer’s Estimates are included for Recreation & Landscape, Phase 3 & 4,
Phase 3 & 4 Environmental Preservation, Offsite turn lane and signal improvement, and
electrical.  A ten percent (10%) contingency has been added for the Total Costs.

Table 3-1 summarizes the CIP costs.

Table 3-1:  Capital Improvement Costs

1. Engineering & Permitting includes the design of Roadways, Stormwater Management System, Sanity
Sewer, and Potable Water.  Permits include COJ, FDEP, and SJRWMD.

2. Offsite improvements under Phase 1 include connections to existing Potable Water Main & Force Main.

Improvement
Category

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4 Total Costs

Engineering,
Studies, and
Permitting

$248,857 $248,857 $194,607 $267,607 $959,928

Offsite
Improvements
Water, Sewer

and Signal

$4,801,477.66
(Water and

Sewer)

- - $700,000
(Signal)

$5,501,477.66

Internal Roads
and Walks

$3,528,033.94 $1,033,746.31 $2,314,698.51 $4,919,543.84 $11,796,022.60

Recreation
and

Landscape

$1,700,000 $100,000 $70,000 $118,000 $1,988,000

Electrical $787,500 $167,500 $176,250 $368,750 $1,500,000
Water and

Sewer
$3,925,852 $1,031,260 $1,709,390.57 $3,045,206.17 $9,711,708.74

Stormwater
Management

$2,168,108 $884,892.00 897,190.09 1,714,489.02 $5,664,679.11

Environmental
Preservation

143,200 143,200 400,000 400,000 $1,086,400

Contingency
at 10%

$1,730,302.86 $360,945.53 $576,213.62 $1,153,359.60 $3,820,821.61

Total Cost
(approx..)

$19,033,331.46 $3,970,400.84 $6,338,349.79 $12,686,995.63 $42,029,037.72



As well as a Turn Lane on Plummer Road and signal at Old Kings to be completed in Phase 4.
3. Internal Roads and Walks include grading, paving, striping, erosion control, surveying, curbs and

sidewalks.
4. Recreation and Landscape includes monument sign, entry landscape, pool and pavilion, tot lot, dog park,

and fishing pond.
5. Water and sewer include onsite mains, services, and lift stations.
6. Stormwater Management includes storm inlets, piping, ponds, outfall controls, and upflow filters.
7. Environmental Preservation includes wetland mitigation credits pending bond counsel approval.

3.2 Permit Status
Permits have been issued for the work to be completed on the Offsite locations, Phase 1, and Phase2.
Additional permitting will be required for the Amenity Area, Phase 3 and Phase 4.

3.2.1 Duval County Permits
Duval County has approved the Construction Plans for Offsite, Phase 1, and 2.  Additionally, the
PUD Verification for the entire development has been approved.  Permitting will need to be
completed for the Amenity Area, Phase 3, and Phase 4.

3.2.2 JEA Water and Sewer Permits
JEA has approved the Construction Plans for Offsite, Phase 1, and 2.  Permitting will need to be
completed for the Amenity Area, Phase 3, and Phase 4.

3.2.3 FDEP Water and Sewer Permits
FDEP has approved the Construction Plans for the Offsite Water Main and Force Main
extensions.  No additional FDEP utility permitting will be required.

3.2.4 SJRWMD ERP Permit
SJRWMD has approved the Construction Plans, Drainage Calculations, and Environmental
mitigation for Phase 1 and 2.  Permitting will need to be completed for the Amenity Area, Phase
3, and Phase 4.

3.3 Construction Status
Construction for the Offsite Water Main and Force Main are currently ongoing.  Construction of the
Main Entry Road and other infrastructure associated with Phases 1 and 2 are under construction
now, with an estimated 19 months to complete.

Phase 3 construction is scheduled to start construction - Early 2024.

Phase 4 construction is scheduled to start construction - Late 2024.



ìòð ÛÒÙ×ÒÛÛÎ�Í ÝÛÎÌ×Ú×ÝßÌ×ÑÒ

×² ±«® ±°·²·±²ô ¬¸» ·³°®±ª»³»²¬ ½±¬ »¬·³¿¬» ¿®» º¿·® ¿²¼ ®»¿±²¿¾´»ô ¿²¼ ©» ¸¿ª» ²± ®»¿±² ¬±
¾»´·»ª» ¬¸¿¬ ¬¸» ·³°®±ª»³»²¬ ¼»½®·¾»¼ ¸»®»·² ½¿²²±¬ ¾» ½±²¬®«½¬»¼ ¿²¼ ·²¬¿´´»¼ ¿¬ «½¸ ½±¬
¿²¼ ·² ¬¸» ½±²¬®«½¬·±² ¬·³» º®¿³» ¿ ¼»½®·¾»¼ ·² ¬¸· ®»°±®¬ò  Ì¸» »¬·³¿¬»¼ °®±¾¿¾´»
½±²¬®«½¬·±² ½±¬ ©»®» ¼»¬»®³·²»¼ º®±³ ¿½¬«¿´ ½±²¬®«½¬·±² ½±²¬®¿½¬ ©·¬¸ ¿ ¬»² °»®½»²¬ øïðû÷
½±²¬·²¹»²½§ ¿²¼ ½±³°¿®»¼ ¬± «²·¬ °®·½» ©·¬¸·² Ò±®¬¸ Ú´±®·¼¿ò  É» »¨°»½¬ ¬¸¿¬ ¿´´ ·³°®±ª»³»²¬
¬± ¾» ½±²¬®«½¬»¼ ½¿² ¾» ½±³°´»¬»¼ ±² ½¸»¼«´»ò  Ð»®³·¬ ²»½»¿®§ ¬± ½±³°´»¬» ¬¸»
·³°®±ª»³»²¬ ©·´´ ¾» ¿½¯«·®»¼ ·² ¬¸» ²±®³¿´ ½±«®» ±º ¾«·²»ò  Ì¸»®»º±®»ô ©» ¾»´·»ª» ¬¸» ÝÜÜ
©·´´ ¾» ©»´´ »®ª»¼ ¾§ ¬¸» ·²º®¿¬®«½¬«®» ·³°®±ª»³»²¬ ¼·½«»¼ ·² ¬¸· ®»°±®¬ò  Ì¸»
·³°®±ª»³»²¬ô ·º ½±²¬®«½¬»¼ ¬± ¬¸» ¼»·¹² ¼»½®·¾»¼ ¸»®»·²ô ©·´´ ¾» «ºº·½·»²¬ ¬± «°°±®¬ ¬¸»
Ü»ª»´±°³»²¬ ¿ ¼»½®·¾»¼ ·² Í»½¬·±² î ±º ¬¸· Û²¹·²»»®·²¹ Î»°±®¬ò  Ì¸» ¾»²»º·¬ ¬± ¬¸» ¿»¿¾´»
´¿²¼ô ©·¬¸·² ¬¸» ÝÜÜ ¿²¼ ¿ ¿ ®»«´¬ ±º ¬¸» Ý¿°·¬¿´ ×³°®±ª»³»²¬ Ð´¿²ô ¸¿´´ ¿¬ ´»¿¬ ¾» »¯«¿´ ¬±
½±¬ ¬¸»®»±ºò  Ì¸» ÝÜÜ ¸¿´´ °¿§ ¬¸» ´»»® ±º ¬¸» ¿½¬«¿´ ½±¬ ±® ¬¸» º¿·® ³¿®µ»¬ ª¿´«» ±º ¬¸»
°«¾´·½ ·³°®±ª»³»²¬ ½±³°®··²¹ ¬¸» Ý¿°·¬¿´ ×³°®±ª»³»²¬ Ð´¿²ò

× ¸»®»¾§ ½»®¬·º§ ¬¸¿¬ ¬¸» º±®»¹±·²¹ · ¿ ¬®«» ¿²¼ ½±®®»½¬ ½±°§ ±º ¬¸» Ý¿°·¬¿´ ×³°®±ª»³»²¬ Ð´¿²ò

Ì¸· ·¬»³ ¸¿ ¾»»² ¼·¹·¬¿´´§ ·¹²»¼ ¿²¼ »¿´»¼ ¾§æ

Ó¿®§ Ûò Ô»¿°¬®±¬¬ ±² ¬¸» ¼¿¬» ¿¼¶¿½»²¬ ¬± ¬¸» »¿´

Ð®·²¬»¼ ½±°·» ±º ¬¸· ¼±½«³»²¬ ¿®» ²±¬ ½±²·¼»®»¼

Í·¹²»¼ ¿²¼ »¿´»¼ ¿²¼ ¬¸» ·¹²¿¬«®» ³«¬ ¾»

Ê»®·º·»¼ ±² ¿²§ »´»½¬®±²·½ ½±°·»ò

Ó¿®§ Ûò Ô»¿°¬®±¬¬ô ÐòÛò

Ú´±®·¼¿ Î»¹·¬®¿¬·±² Ò±ò êïììç

Ý±²²»´´§ ú É·½µ»®ô ×²½ò

Ó¿®§ Ûò Ô»¿°¬®±¬¬ ±² ¬¸» ¼¿¬» ¿¼¶¿½»²¬ ¬± ¬¸» »¿´Ó¿®§ Ûò Ô»¿°¬®±¬¬ ±² ¬¸» ¼¿¬» ¿¼¶¿½»²¬ ¬± ¬¸» »¿´Ó¿®§ Ûò Ô»¿°¬®±¬¬ ±² ¬¸» ¼¿¬» ¿¼¶¿½»²¬ ¬± ¬¸» »¿´

Ð®·²¬»¼ ½±°·» ±º ¬¸· ¼±½«³»²¬ ¿®» ²±¬ ½±²·¼»®»¼Ð®·²¬»¼ ½±°·» ±º ¬¸· ¼±½«³»²¬ ¿®» ²±¬ ½±²·¼»®»¼Ð®·²¬»¼ ½±°·» ±º ¬¸· ¼±½«³»²¬ ¿®» ²±¬ ½±²·¼»®»¼

beth
PE Stamp



ATTACHMENT A

MAPS



© 2023 Microsoft Corporation © 2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus DS © 2022 TomTom 

21-01-0046 MARCH 15, 2023

GENERAL LOCATION

N
.
T

.
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARBY CDD



X

FENCE

FENCE
ON LINE

12.0'

X

RE# 004119-0500
CARTER

0 OLD KINGS RD

RE# 003846-0000
WHITNEY

11094 OLD KINGS RD

RE# 004121-0020
11074-44 LAND TRUST

0 OLD KINGS RD

RE# 003845-0550
KIDD

0 OLD KINGS RD

RE# 004057-0000
CALVARY CHAPEL CHURCH

11223 OLD KINGS RD

6025
15.30
ELECTRIC HH

6135
21.07
BDC

6136
20.31
 WELL

6137
23.58
DF

6138
20.92
DF

6139
20.79
DF

6140
23.61
DF

6141
23.55
DF

6142
20.31
DF

6143
20.60
DF

6144
19.81
DF

6145
23.38
DF6174
22.49
DF

6175
20.83
DF

6176
21.00
DF

6177
22.63
DF

6178
26.45
BDC

APPROXIMATE
DRAIN FIELDAPPROXIMATE

DRAIN FIELD

APPROXIMATE
DRAIN FIELD

X

X
X

X

FENCE

FENCE
ON LINE

12.0'

O

W

S

L

E

Y

 

C

O

U

R

T

D
A

R
B

Y
W

O
O

D
 
T

R
A

I
L

GREATFORD WAY

CAHILL LANE

G
R

E
A

T
F

O
R

D
 
W

A
Y

LISHWOOD WAY

L
I
S

H
W

O
O

D
 
W

A
Y

D

A

R

B

Y

W

O

O

D

 

T

R

A

I

L

D

A

R

B

Y

W

O

O

D

 

T

R

A

I

L

D
A

R
B

Y
W

O
O

D
 
T

R
A

I
L

D
A

R
B

Y
W

O
O

D
 
T

R
A

I
L

GREATFORD WAY

G
R

E
A

T
F

O
R

D
 
W

A
Y

CAHILL LANE

CAHILL LANE

G
R

E
A

T
F

O
R

D
 
W

A
Y

LISHWOOD WAY

L
I
S

H
W

O
O

D
 
W

A
Y

VICINITY MAP

PROJECT LOCATION

P

L

U

M

M

E

R

 

R

D

O

L

D

 

K

I

N

G

S

 

R

D

SYCAMORE ST

C

S

X

 

R

A

I

L

R

O

A

D

N

O

R

F

O

L

K

 

S

O

U

T

H

E

R

N

 

R

A

I

L

R

O

A

D

LEGEND

S
ab

ri
na

P
ri

nt
ed

 B
y:

M
ar

 1
6,

 2
02

3 
- 

12
:2

6p
m

J:
\2

1\
21

-0
1-

00
46

 P
lu

m
m

er
 D

ar
b

y 
S

in
g

le
 F

am
ily

\D
es

ig
n\

D
w

g
s\

M
ap

s\
21

-0
1-

00
46

 P
U

D
 M

ap
.d

w
g

P
ri

nt
ed

:

Fl
or

id
a 

Re
gi

str
y 

36
50

 L
.A

. N
um

be
r: 

LC
26

00
03

11
(9

04
) 2

56
-3

03
0 

 F
A

X
: (

90
4)

 2
65

-3
03

1 
 w

w
w

.c
w

ie
ng

.c
om

10
06

0 
Sk

in
ne

r L
ak

e 
D

riv
e,

 S
ui

te
 5

00
 Ja

ck
so

nv
ill

e,
 F

lo
rid

a 
32

24
6

P
L

U
M

M
E

R
 
D

A
R

B
Y

P
H

A
S

E
 
1

C
L
D

G
 
L
A

N
D

 
V

,
 
L
L
C

21-01-0046

MEL
ANB

3/16/2023

1 OF 1

P
U

D
 
V

E
R

I
F

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
 
M

A
P

N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
TROUT RIVER FLOODWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
JACKSONVILLE ELECTRIC AUTHORITY  0 PLUMMER RD  RE:003863 0010

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 12.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRANDON CHASE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLTON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRANDON COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAYONIER FOREST RESOURCES L P 0 PLUMMER RD RE:002669 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITTMAN VALERIE E 7916 PLUMMER RD RE:002610 2000

AutoCAD SHX Text
KING FRED A SR ET AL 8100 PLUMMER RD RE:002610 1400

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAWS FARMLANDS LLC Address: 8226 8226 PLUMMER RD RE:002610 1275

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAWS FARMLANDS LLC 0 PLUMMER RD RE:002624 0100

AutoCAD SHX Text
NBM ENTERPRISES LLC 0 PLUMMER RD RE:002653 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLIAMS JOAN RANA 8084 SYCAMORE LN N RE:003843 0010

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTIN CALVIN III 8048 SYCAMORE LN N RE:002666 0010

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORTUNE RICHARD 8063 SYCAMORE LN W RE:002666 0020

AutoCAD SHX Text
KROGER SHIRLEY A 7971 SYCAMORE LN W RE:002666 0040

AutoCAD SHX Text
KROGER SHIRLEY A 7973 SYCAMORE LN W RE:002666 0030

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARBY PARTNERSHIP 0 SYCAMORE LN N RE:003843 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORTUNE RICHARD 8073 SYCAMORE LN N RE:002666 0100

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEE FRED W 7909 SYCAMORE LN N RE:002664 0010

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARR CHARLES M 7835 SYCAMORE ST RE:002670 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
OQUINN JOHN T 7827 SYCAMORE ST RE:002670 0070

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLDEN JENNIFER 0 SYCAMORE ST RE:002670 0060

AutoCAD SHX Text
OQUINN JASON MILLER ESTATE 7827 SYCAMORE ST RE:002670 0050

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELSCHES SHAMEEK R 7707 SYCAMORE ST RE:002670 0020

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUMPHRIES JAMES E JR 10635 BODDENS RD RE:002671 1110

AutoCAD SHX Text
DALEY DENISE 10700 BRANDON COVE LN RE:002671 2345

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHAPPEE JOHN M 10712 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2340

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUINNEY VINCENT JR 10726 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2335

AutoCAD SHX Text
KELLY CLEAON K 10740 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2330

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH KIMBERLY B 10754 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2325

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELDS TERRY 10768 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2320

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMERICAN HOMES 4 RENT PROPERTIES THREE LLC 10774 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2315

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHNSON CHARLES III 10782 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2310

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMH 2014 1 BORROWER LLC 10796 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2305

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALFARO GUSTAVO R 10852 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2090

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARRISON ANTWYNE 10866 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2085

AutoCAD SHX Text
JINKS JILL 10880 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2080

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARRETT BRENNAN 10894 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2075

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORIE JOHN A JR 10908 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2070

AutoCAD SHX Text
INGRAM CHRISTOPHER 10922 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2065

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARRIS KIMBERLY ANNE 10936 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2060

AutoCAD SHX Text
JONES JERRY L 10950 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2055

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEWIS SHERLES INGRID M ET AL 10964 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2050

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEE JAMES V 10978 BRANDON CHASE DR RE:002671 2045

AutoCAD SHX Text
GILPIN YEMI T 7761 BRANDON CT RE:002671 2040

AutoCAD SHX Text
OBRIEN WOOTEN GAYLE LYNN 11036 HOLTON LN RE:002671 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text
MCGRUDER MARY ANNE 11050 HOLTON LN RE:002671 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRIZARRY ALEX 11064 HOLTON LNT RE:002671 2015

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDALL HAROLD B JR 11078 HOLTON LN RE:002671 2010

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRICK LINDA G 7824 PLUMMER RD RE:002596 0010

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRICK LINDA GAIL 7816 PLUMMER RD RE:002596 0030

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITH ANDREW R 7758 PLUMMER RD RE:002595 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRESCO PRESCO RETIREMENT TRUST 7738 PLUMMER RD RE:002598 0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 15.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 16.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 17.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 18.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 19.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 20.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 21.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
BFE 13.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEMA FLOOD ZONE "AE"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-11

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOG PARK AND  WALKING PATHS ACTIVE RECREATION AREA ±2.51 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMENITY AND PAVILION ACTIVE RECREATION AREA ±2.77 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACTIVE RECREATION AREA ±0.64 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL / VEGETATIVE UPLAND BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.99 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2.31 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.96 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL / VEGETATIVE UPLAND BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL / VEGETATIVE UPLAND BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NATURAL / VEGETATIVE UPLAND BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.31 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.95 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.71 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2.41 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2.25 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±4.01 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.24 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.02 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.45 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.01 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.04 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJRWMD JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJRWMD JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJRWMD JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJRWMD JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
80' LOT ADJACENT TO EAST BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
80' LOT ADJACENT TO EAST BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.95 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SJRWMD JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULTI-USE PATH ACTIVE RECREATION 10' WIDE (4' 0.32 ACRES)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASTER LIFT STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIFT STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIFT STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2.54 Ac. FLOOD COMPENSATION AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAYGROUND ACTIVE RECREATION  AREA ±1.43 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWMF-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.02 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.67 Ac.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±4.09 Ac. FLOOD COMPENSATION AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.13 Ac. FLOOD COMPENSATION AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2.32 Ac. FLOOD COMPENSATION AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.50 Ac. FLOOD COMPENSATION AREA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.06 Ac. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECREATIONAL FISHING POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
300'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uPROPERTY DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uPROJECT ENGINEER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNELLY & WICKER INC.  10060 SKINNER LAKE DRIVE, SUITE 500 JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32246  CONTACT: JUSTIN E. WILLIAMS, P.E.  P: 904.265.3030  F: 904.265.3031

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPROJECT TABULAR DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USURVEYOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPROJECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITTMAN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 4049 SAN SERVERA DR. N. JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32217  CONTACT: ALFRED B. PITTMAN, RLA  P: 904.327.7718  

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER DARBY PUD PARCEL RE# 003837-0010, 003845-0510, 003839-0010, 003844-0010   0 PLUMMER RD  JACKSONVILLE, FL 32219        

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL PHASES TOTAL SITE AREA ACTIVE RECREATION AREA REQUIRED RECREATION AREA MULTI-USE PATH AREA TOTAL RECREATION AREA PROVIDED STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AREA WETLAND IMPACTS WETLANDS REMAIN NUMBER OF LOTS  PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3 PHASE 4 TOTAL: SINGLE LOT DWELLING SIZE         MINIMUM LOT WIDTH MINIMUM LOT DEPTH MINIMUM LOT AREA MAXIMUM LOT COVERAGE MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT BUILDING SETBACK         50' &  80 LOTS   40' LOTS 50' &  80 LOTS   40' LOTS   40' LOTS 40' LOTS FRONT:                        SIDE:                       REAR: EXISTING / PROPOSED ZONING  FEMA FLOOD ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 444.56 ACRES  7.42± ACRES7.35± ACRES0.32± ACRES7.67± ACRES20.25± ACRES22.36± ACRES204.27± ACRES172 LOTS 134 LOTS 141 LOTS 295 LOTS 742 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES 40 FT. 100 FT. 4000 S.F. 60 % 35 FT. 20 FT.   20 FT. 20 FT.  5 FT.   3 FT. 3 FT. 10 FT.   10 FT. 10 FT. AGR / PUD  AE & A (PANEL 12031C0166H DATED JUNE, 2013 & 12031C0167J DATED NOV., 2018)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORNER LOT DEVELOPMENT GROUP 1819 GOODWIN STREET JACKSONVILLE, FL 32204 CONTACT: LEE HUTCHINS P: 904.509.9434904.509.9434

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARSON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 1643 NALDO AVENUE JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32207 CONTACT: WILLIAM D. PINKSTON P: 904.396.2623       

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND IMPACTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULTI-USE PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revision

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF CONNELLY & WICKER INC. AND IS NOT TO BE REPRODUCED OR COPIED IN WHOLE OR IN PART. IT IS NOT TO BE USED ON ANY OTHER PROJECT AND IS TO BE RETURNED ON REQUEST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
..

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. 61449 6144961449

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS ITEM HAS BEEN DIGITALLY SIGNED AND SEALED BY  MARY E. LEAPTROTT  MARY E. LEAPTROTT  ON THE DATE ADJACENT  TO THE SEAL. PRINTED COPIES OF  THIS DOCUMENT ARE NOT CONSIDERED  SIGNED AND SEALED AND THE SIGNATURE MUST BE VERIFIED ON ANY ELECTRONIC  COPIES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECREATION AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
80' LOTS



21-01-0046 March 15, 2023

LAND USE

N
.
T

.
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARBY CDD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND USE KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGR-II

AutoCAD SHX Text
Agriculture II

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGR-III

AutoCAD SHX Text
Agriculture III

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGR-IV

AutoCAD SHX Text
Agriculture IV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RR

AutoCAD SHX Text
Residential Rural

AutoCAD SHX Text
LDR

AutoCAD SHX Text
Low Density Rural

AutoCAD SHX Text
PBF

AutoCAD SHX Text
Public Buildings and Facilities 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BP

AutoCAD SHX Text
Business Park

AutoCAD SHX Text
CGC

AutoCAD SHX Text
Community General Commercial

AutoCAD SHX Text
LI

AutoCAD SHX Text
Light Industrial 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC

AutoCAD SHX Text
Neighborhood Commercial

AutoCAD SHX Text
MU

AutoCAD SHX Text
Multi-Use



OLD
KINGS

RD

GARDEN ST

PLUMMER RD

LANCASHIRE

DR

W

W

W

W

FM

FM
W

W

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FMFMFM

FM FM

W W



Exhibit B 
Master Special Assessment Methodology Report 

 
 



 

           
 

 
Darby  

Community Development District 
 

 
 

Master Special Assessment Methodology Report 
 
 

July 26, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 Governmental Management Services, LLC 
 
 



  

ii 

Table of Contents 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose ....................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Scope of the Report .................................................................................... 1  
1.3 Special and General Benefits ...................................................................... 1          
1.4 Organization of this Report ......................................................................... 2          

 
2.0 Development Program for Darby 

2.1 Overview ..................................................................................................... 2         
2.2 The Development Program ......................................................................... 2 
 

3.0 The Capital Improvement Program Darby 
3.1 Engineering Report ..................................................................................... 3          
3.2 Capital Improvement Program ................................................................... 3
  
 

4.0 Financing Program for Darby 
4.1 Overview ..................................................................................................... 3         
4.2 Type of Special Assessment Bonds Proposed ............................................. 4 
 

5.0 Assessment Methodology 
5.1 Overview ..................................................................................................... 4      
5.2 Assigning Debt ............................................................................................ 5 
5.3 Lienability Test: Special and Peculiar Benefit to the Property ................... 6 
5.4 Lienability Test: Reasonable and Fair Apportionment of the Duty to Pay..6          
5.5 True-Up Mechanism ................................................................................... 7 
5.6.     Additional Stipulations ................................................................................. 7
                    

 
6.0 Appendix 
 
            Table 1   Land Use.………………………………………………………………………….…….………….… 
            Table 2   Infrastructure Cost Estimates.…………………………………………….………………. 
            Table 3   Financing Estimates…...….………………………………….………………………………… 
            Table 4   Determination of Benefit and Debt Allocation….............................………  
            Table 5   Preliminary Assessment Roll…………………………….......…………………………….  
   
          



 

           
 

1.0 Introduction 
        

1.1 Purpose 
 
This Master Special Assessment Methodology Report (“Report”) provides 
a methodology for allocating the proposed debt to be incurred by the 
Darby Community Development District (“District”) to properties in the 
District in order to fund the District’s proposed Capital Improvement Plan 
(“CIP”). The District’s debt will fund the CIP, which is described in more 
detail in the Engineer’s Report (as defined herein), that will allow the 
development of the property in the District.  The methodology allocates 
this debt to properties based upon the special benefits each receives from 
the CIP.  In this case the property located within the District includes 
approximately 407.9 acres located in Duval County (the “County”), Florida.  
This report is designed to conform to the requirements of Chapters 190 
and 170, Florida Statutes, with respect to special assessments and is 
consistent with our understanding of the case law on this subject. 
 

1.2 Scope of the Report 
 

This Report presents the projections for financing the CIP, which includes 
the improvements described in the Master Engineer’s Report for Darby 
Community Development District developed by Connelly & Wicker, Inc., 
dated July 19, 2023 (“the Engineer’s Report”). This Report also describes 
the master apportionment of benefit and special assessments resulting 
from the provision of the CIP to the lands within the District. 
 

1.3 Special Benefits and General Benefits 
 

The CIP undertaken by the District creates special and peculiar benefits to 
property within the District, different and special in kind and degree than 
general benefits to the public at large.  
 
However, as discussed within this Report, the general benefits are 
incidental in nature and are readily distinguishable from the special and 
peculiar benefits, which accrue to property within the District. The CIP 
enables properties within the District’s boundaries to be developed. 
Without the CIP, there would be no infrastructure to support development 
of the land within the District. Without these improvements, state and 
local law would prohibit development of property within the District.   
 
There is no doubt that the general public, including property owners, and 
property outside the District, will benefit from the provision of the CIP. 



   2 

However, these benefits are incidental to the CIP, which is designed solely 
to provide special benefits peculiar to property within the District. 
Properties outside the District do not depend upon the CIP to obtain, or to 
maintain their development entitlements. This fact alone clearly 
distinguishes the special benefits which District properties receive 
compared to those lying outside of the District’s boundaries. Even though 
the exact value of the benefits provided by the CIP is difficult to estimate 
at this point, it is nevertheless greater than the costs associated with 
providing the CIP. 
 

1.4 Organization of this Report 
 

Section Two describes the development program as proposed by the 
Developer. 
 
Section Three provides a summary of the CIP as determined by the District 
Engineer. 
 
Section Four discusses the financing program for the District.   
 
Section Five introduces the Assessment Methodology. 
 

2.0 District Development Program  
 

2.1 Overview 
 

The Darby development is designed as a planned residential community, 
located within the City of Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida. The proposed 
land use within the District is consistent with the City, County and State 
Land Use and Comprehensive Plans. 
 

2.2 The Development Program 
 

The Development will consist of approximately 742 single-family 
residential homes. The current development program is comprised of 496 
-40’ lots, 219 - 50’ lots, and 27 –80’ lots. 

 
 
3.0 The District’s Capital Improvement Plan  
 

3.1 Engineer’s Report 
 

The CIP and the estimated cost to be funded by the District is determined 
by the District Engineer in the Engineer’s Report. The CIP includes only 



   3 

improvements that may qualify for bond financing by the District under 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes. 
  

3.2 Capital Improvement Plan 
 

The CIP consists the following: engineering and permitting, offsite 
improvements, internal roads and walks, recreation, landscape, electrical, 
water and sewer, stormwater management, environmental preservation, 
and an overall infrastructure provision for contingencies. The CIP will 
represent a system of improvements that irrespective of certain 
exceptions described further in Section 5.1 of this Report, will provide 
benefits to all of the assessable lands within the District. 
 
At the time of this writing, the total costs of the CIP, according to the 
Engineer’s Report, were projected at $42,029,038. 
 

4.0 Financing Program for Darby 
 

4.1 Overview 
 

As noted above, the District is embarking on the CIP, which will facilitate 
the development of lands within the District. Construction of the CIP may 
be funded by the Developer and acquired by the District under an 
agreement between the District and the Developer, or maybe funded 
directly by the District. The structure of financing presented below is 
preliminary and subject to change. 
 
It is currently contemplated that the District will finance the CIP with 
Special Assessment Bonds. The preliminary financing plan for the District 
anticipates the issuance of Special Assessment Bonds in the principal 
amount not to exceed $57,000,000 to fund all or a portion of the District’s 
CIP, as shown in Table 3. 
 
 

4.2 Types of Special Assessment Bonds Proposed 
 

As projected in the current master financing plan, in order to finance all or 
a portion of the CIP, the District will need to potentially incur indebtedness 
in the total amount of $57,000,000. 
 
The difference between the Bond debt and the CIP is comprised of costs of 
issuance, including the underwriter’s discount and professional fees 
associated with debt issuance, capitalized interest costs as the District will 



   4 

be borrowing funds with which it will pay the early interest payments, and 
funding a debt service reserve.  

 
Preliminary sources and uses of funding are presented in Table 3 in the 
Appendix. 
 
Please note that the structure of the Special Assessment Bonds is 
preliminary and may change due to changes in the development program, 
market conditions, timing of infrastructure installation as well as other 
reasons. The District maintains complete flexibility as to the structure of 
the Special Assessment Bonds.   

 
 
5.0 Assessment Methodology 
 

5.1 Overview 
 

Special Assessment Bonds provide the District with funds to acquire and / 
or construct the CIP outlined in Section 3.2 and the Engineer’s Report. 
These improvements lead to special and general benefits, with special 
benefits accruing specifically to the properties within the boundaries of the 
District and general benefits generally accruing to areas outside the District 
and being only incidental in nature. The debt incurred in financing the CIP 
will be paid off by assessing properties that derive special and peculiar 
benefits from the proposed public infrastructure set forth in the CIP. All 
properties that receive special benefits from the District’s CIP will either 
be assessed or the developer will be required to make a contribution of a 
portion of the CIP in lieu of an assessment.  Such a contribution, if any, will 
be described in a supplement to this report.  
 
 

5.2 Assigning Debt 
 
The current development plan for the District projects 742 single-family 
residential homes; however, the planned unit numbers and land use types 
may change. 
 
All residential development within the District will benefit from all the CIP 
categories, as the improvements provide basic infrastructure to all 
residential lands within the District and benefit all residential lands within 
the District as an integrated system of improvements. Benefited units will 
be treated on an equivalent residential unit (“ERU”) basis for each single-
family residential unit based upon the front footage of the lot. A 50’ foot 
lot will be equal to 1 ERU while a 40’ lot is .80 ERU and a 80’ lot is 1.60 ERU.  



   5 

 
As the provision of the CIP by the District will make the lands in the District 
developable, the land will become more valuable to property owners. The 
increase in the value of the land provides the logical benefit of 
improvements that accrues to the developable land within the District.   
 
Initially, the assessments will be levied on all assessable lands within the 
District based on the approved site plan on an equal acreage basis, because 
at that juncture, every acre benefits equally from the CIP. 
 
The debt incurred by the District to fund the CIP is allocated to the 
properties receiving special benefits on the basis of development intensity 
and density.  The responsibility for the repayment of the District’s debt 
through assessments will ultimately be distributed in proportion to the 
special benefit peculiar to the assessable land within the District, as it may 
be classified within each of the land use categories. For the purpose of 
determining the special benefit accruing to the lands within the District, 
the CIP estimated costs have been allocated to each acre on an equal basis.   
 
 

 5.3 Lienability Test: Special and Peculiar Benefit to the Property 
 

As first discussed in Section 1.3, Special Benefits and General Benefits, the 
CIP creates special and peculiar benefits to the assessable properties 
within the District. The CIP benefits properties within the District and such 
benefits accrue to all assessable properties initially on an equal acreage 
basis and then on an ERU basis.  
 
The CIP can be shown to be creating special and peculiar benefits to the 
property. The special and peculiar benefits resulting from the CIP 
undertaken by the District include, but are not limited to: 
 
a. Roadway Improvements result in special and peculiar benefits such as 

the added use of the property for development, added enjoyment of 
the property, avoidance of stormwater management issues and 
increased marketability of the property.   

b. Utility Improvements result in special and peculiar benefits such as the 
added use of the property, and likely increased marketability and value 
of the property. 

c. Amenities, Entry Features and Landscaping result in special and 
peculiar benefits such as the added use of the property, and likely 
increased marketability and value of the property. 

d. Storm Water systems result in special and peculiar benefits such as the 
added use of the property, decreased insurance premiums, added 



   6 

enjoyment of the property, and likely increased marketability of the 
property.              

e. A contingency is necessary in the current economic environment with 
the likelihood of increased costs for materials and labor over the life of 
the construction of the project.            

 
These special and peculiar benefits are real and ascertainable, but not yet 
capable of being calculated and assessed in terms of numerical value, 
however, each is more valuable than either the cost of, or the actual 
assessment levied for, the CIP or debt allocated to the benefitting land. 
 
Further, to the extent that any parcel of land within the District which has 
not been platted is sold to another third-party developer or builder, the 
assessments will be assigned to such parcel at the time of the sale based 
upon the development rights associated with such parcel that are 
transferred from seller to buyer. 

 
5.4 Lienability Test: Reasonable and Fair Apportionment of the Duty to Pay 
 

A reasonable estimate of the proportion of special and peculiar benefits 
received from the CIP is delineated in Table 4 (expressed as Allocation of 
Total Par Debt). 
 
The determination has been made that the duty to pay the non-ad valorem 
special assessments is fairly and reasonably apportioned because the 
special and peculiar benefits to the property derived from the acquisition 
and or construction of the CIP (and the concomitant responsibility for the 
payment of the resultant and allocated debt) have been apportioned to 
the property according to reasonable estimates of the special and peculiar 
benefits provided consistent with the land use. 
 
Accordingly, no acre or parcel of property within the boundaries of the 
District will be liened for the payment of any non-ad valorem special 
assessment more than the determined special benefit peculiar to that 
property.  Further, the debt allocation will not be affected. 
 
In accordance with the benefit allocation in Table 4, a Total Par Debt per 
Unit has been calculated for each single-family unit.  This amount 
represents the preliminary anticipated per unit debt allocation assuming 
all anticipated units are built and sold in the planned development and the 
entire proposed CIP is developed or acquired and financed by the District. 
 

 
 



   7 

 
5.5 True-Up Mechanism 

 
In order to ensure that the District’s debt will not build up on the 
unsold/unplatted acres, and to ensure that the requirements that the non-
ad valorem special assessments be constitutionally lienable on the 
property will continue to be met, the District shall determine the following:  

 
To ensure that there will always be sufficient development potential 
remaining in the undivided/unplatted property to assure payment of debt 
service after a plat or site plan approval, the following test will be applied.  
The test is that the debt per acre remaining on the undivided/unplatted 
land is never allowed to increase above its maximum debt per acre level.  
Initially, the maximum level of debt per acre is calculated as the total 
amount of debt for the District’s improvement program divided by the 
number of gross acres in the District.  In this case, it is $57,000,000 divided 
by 407.9 acres equaling $139,740 per acre. Once a site plan for the 
development is completed the acreage will be reduced by the number of 
platted units and the calculation of debt per acre will be adjusted 
accordingly.  Thus, if the initial debt level is $139,740 per acre, every time 
a plat or site plan approval is presented, the debt on the unplatted land 
remaining after the plat or site plan approval must remain at or below 
$139,740 per acre.  If not, then in order for the Developer to receive a plat 
or site plan approval from Duval County, the Developer agrees that the 
District will require a density reduction payment so that the $139,740 per 
acre debt level is not exceeded. 
 

5.6 Additional Stipulations 
 

                       Certain financing, development, and engineering data was provided by 
members of District staff and/or the Developer. The allocation 
methodology described herein was based on information provided by 
those professionals. Governmental Management Services, LLC makes no 
representations regarding said information transactions beyond 
restatement of the factual information necessary for compilation of this 
report. For further information about the District’s Bonds, please refer to 
the indentures relating to such bonds. 



TABLE 1
Darby CDD
Land Use

Land Use
Unit 

Count
ERU Per 

Unit
Total 
ERU's

Residential - 40' Lot 496 0.80 396.80
Residential - 50' Lot 219 1.00 219.00
Residential - 80' Lot 27 1.60 43.20

Total 742 659.00

Information provided by Connelly & Wicker, Inc.
Total Acres within the District is 407.9.

Governmental Management Services, LLC A-1



TABLE 2
Darby CDD

Infrastructure Cost Estimates

Master Infrastructure 
Improvements

Total Cost 
Estimates

Engineering & Permitting 959,928
Offsite Improvements 5,501,478
Internal Roads and Walks 11,796,023
Recreation and Landscape 1,988,000
Electrical 1,500,000
Water and Sewer 9,711,709
Stormwater Management 5,664,679
Environmental Mitigation 1,086,400
Contingency (10%) 3,820,822

Total Costs (approx.) 42,029,038

Information provided by Connelly & Wicker, Inc.
Capital Improvement Plan Report Dated July 19, 2023

Governmental Management Services, LLC A-2



TABLE 3
Darby CDD

Financing Estimates

Preliminary 
Bond Sizing

Construction / Acquisition Requirments 42,029,038
Debt Service Reserve Fund (1) 4,780,375
Capitalized Interest 8,550,000
Cost of Issuance 500,587
Underwriter's Discount 1,140,000
Rounding

Total Par 57,000,000

Principal Amortization Installments 30
Estimated Average Coupon Rate 7.50%
Estimated Par Amount 57,000,000
Estimated Maximum Annual Debt Service 4,780,375
Capitalized Interest Through 11/01/25
Maturity 05/01/55

(1) DSRF is based on Maximum Annual Debt Service (MADS)

Information provided by MBS Capital Markets, LLC.

Governmental Management Services, LLC A-3



TABLE 4
Darby CDD

Benefit and Par Debt Allocations

Development Type

Number 
of 

Planned 
Units

Total 
ERU's

Allocation of 
Construction 

Costs

Allocation of 
Total Par 

Debt

Benefit 
per Unit

Allocation of 
Maximum 

Annual Debt 
Service Net

Debt Service 
Annual 

Assessment 
Per Unit Net

40' Lot 496 396.80 25,306,710 34,321,093 69,196 2,878,381 5,803
50' Lot 219 219.00 13,967,161 18,942,337 86,495 1,588,622 7,254
80' Lot 27 43.20 2,755,166 3,736,571 138,392 313,372 11,606

Total 742 659.00 42,029,038 57,000,000 4,780,375

Discounts and collection cost from the County Tax Collector and Property Appraiser will be added to the net annual 
assessments when the uniform method of collection is utilized.

Governmental Management Services, LLC A-4



TABLE 5
Darby CDD

Preliminary Assessment Roll

Property Owner Parcel ID # Acres
Par Debt 
Per Acre

Assigned 
Debt

Net Annual 
Assessment 

Per Acre

Assigned Net 
Annual 

Assessment

Plummer JV LLC 003839-0010 407.90 139,740 57,000,000 11,719 4,780,375

Total 407.90 57,000,000 4,780,375

Governmental Management Services, LLC A-5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



Fiscal Year 2023 Approved Budget
Fiscal Year 2024 Approved Budget

Darby Community
Development District

July 26, 2023

 



General Fund
Budget Page 1
Narrative Page 2-3

Darby 
Community Development District

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Darby
Community Development District  

Approved Approved
Budget Budget

Description FY	2023	(1) FY	2024

Revenues 	 	 		
	 Developer	Contributions	 38,530$										 118,393$						

Total	Revenues 38,530$									 118,393$					

Expenditures

Administrative

Supervisors	Fees 3,000$												 12,000$								
FICA	Expense 230$															 918$														
Engineering 3,000$												 12,000$								
Attorney 6,250$												 25,000$								
Assessment	Administration -$																 5,000$											
Management	Fees 11,250$										 45,000$								
Information	Technology 450$															 1,800$											
Website	Creation/ADA	Compliance 1,750$												 -$															
Website	Maintenance 300$															 1,200$											
Telephone 200$															 500$														
Postage 500$															 1,500$											
Insurance 2,500$												 5,500$											
Printing	&	Binding 500$															 1,200$											
Legal	Advertising 8,000$												 5,000$											
Other	Current	Charges 200$															 600$														
Office	Supplies 250$															 1,000$											
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 150$															 175$														

Total	Expenditures 38,530$									 118,393$					

Excess	Revenues/(Expenditures) -$																 -$														

(1)	All	expenses	prorated	amount	represents	3	months	of	fiscal	year.



 
 

Darby	
Community	Development	District	

General	Fund	Budget	
 

 

REVENUES:	
	

Developer	Contributions	
	
It	is	presently	anticipated	that	the	District	will	enter	into	a	Funding	Agreement	with	the	Developer	to	fund	
all	General	Fund	Expenditures	for	the	Fiscal	Year.		
	 	 	 	 	 	 									 	

	
EXPENDITURES:	
	
Administrative:	
	
Supervisors	Fees	
	
Chapter	190,	The	Florida	Statutes,	allows	each	Board	member	to	receive	$200	per	meeting	not	to	exceed	
$4,800	per	year	per	supervisor	for	the	time	devoted	to	District	business	and	meetings.			
	
FICA	Expense	
	
Represents	 the	 Employer’s	 share	 of	 Social	 Security	 and	 Medicare	 taxes	 withheld	 from	 the	 Board	 of	
Supervisors	checks.	
	
Engineering	
	
The	District	will	be	providing	general	engineering	services	to	the	District,	e.g.,	attendance	and	preparation	
for	monthly	board	meetings,	review	invoices,	etc.	
	
Attorney	
	
The	 District’s	 legal	 counsel	 will	 be	 provide	 general	 legal	 services	 to	 the	 District,	 i.e.	 attendance	 and	
preparation	for	monthly	meetings,	review	operating	&	maintenance	contracts,	etc.	
	
Management	Fees	
	
The	District	will	 contract	 to	 receive	management,	 accounting	 and	 administrative	 services	 as	 part	 of	 a	
management	agreement.			
	
Information	Technology	
	
Represents	 various	 cost	 of	 information	 technology	 for	 the	 District	 such	 as	 video	 conferencing,	 cloud	
storage	 and	 servers,	 positive	 pay	 implementation	 and	 programming	 for	 fraud	 protection,	 accounting	
software,	tablets	for	meetings,	Adobe,	Microsoft	Office,	etc.		
	
Website	Creation/ADA	Compliance	
	
Costs	to	create	the	initial	District	website	and	ensure	the	District	meets	ADA	compliance	guidelines.	
	
Website	Maintenance	
	
Represents	 the	 costs	 associated	 with	 monitoring	 and	 maintaining	 the	 District’s	 website	 created	 in	
accordance	with	 Chapter	 189,	 Florida	 Statutes.	 These	 services	 include	 site	 performance	 assessments,	
security	and	 firewall	maintenance,	updates,	document	uploads,	hosting	and	domain	 renewals,	website	
backups,	etc.	



 
 

Darby	
Community	Development	District	

General	Fund	Budget	
 

 

Telephone	
	
Telephone	conference	costs	for	District	meetings,	workshops	and	committee	meetings.	
	
Postage	
	
Mailing	of	agenda	packages,	overnight	deliveries,	correspondence,	etc.	
	
Insurance	
	
The	 District’s	 General	 Liability	 &	 Public	 Officials	 Liability	 Insurance	 policy	 is	 with	 Florida	 Insurance	
Alliance.		FIA	specializes	in	providing	insurance	coverage	to	governmental	agencies.			
	
Printing	&	Binding	
	
Printing	of	documents	for	board	meetings,	invoices,	computerized	checks,	stationary	and	envelopes,	etc.	
	
Legal	Advertising	
	
The	District	is	required	to	advertise	various	notices	for	monthly	Board	meetings,	public	hearings	etc.	in	a	
newspaper	of	general	circulation.	
	
Other	Current	Charges	
	
Estimated	bank	charges	and	any	other	miscellaneous	expenses	that	incurred	during	the	year.	
	
Office	Supplies	
	
Miscellaneous	office	supplies.	
	
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions	
	
The	District	is	required	to	pay	an	annual	fee	to	the	Department	of	Economic	Opportunity	for	$175.		This	is	
the	only	expense	under	this	category	for	the	District.	
	

	



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



Community Development District FY 23 Funding Request #2
August 22, 2023

 PAYEE GENERAL FUND

1 GMS, LLC 621.00$                     
Inv# 1 - Management fees July 2023

2 GMS, LLC 3,850.00$                  
Inv# 2 - Management fees August 2023

Total 4,471.00$           

Please make check payable to:

Darby Community Development District
475 West Town Place Ste 114
St Augustine FL  32092

Darby






	Agenda
	II.        Review and Selection of Audit RFP Criteria 
	III. B.        Consideration of Resolution 2023-32, Canvassing and Certifying the Results of the Landowners Election 
	C. Consideration of Resolution 2023-33, Electing and Designating the Officers of the District
	IV.       Consideration of Minutes of the July 26, 2023 Organizational Meeting 
	V. Public Hearing Imposing and Levying Master Special Assessments, Resolution 2023-34
	VII.     Discussion of Fiscal Year 2023 & 2024 Approved Budget 
	XI.       Consideration of Funding Request No. 2 



